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Preface

The Jean Monnet Chair on EU Budgetary Governance and 
Audit is hosted at the Department of International and Euro-
pean Studies of the University of Macedonia in Thessaloniki, 
Greece. The Chair was awarded by the European Commis-
sion and the Education, Audiovisual, and Culture Executive 
Age ncy (EACEA), under the Jean Monnet Scheme within the 
Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union, which sup-
ports university initiatives aimed at creating teaching activities 
in European integration.

The purpose of the Chair is to enhance the limited, so far, 
academic work, in terms of teaching and research, with regard 
to EU Budgetary Governance and Audit, by increasing the in-
terest and deepening the knowledge in the field of studies re-
lated to EU (legal, economic, political), as well as, to address 
the University’s outward orientation by providing the general 
public and the specialised groups of stakeholders in the pub-
lic and private sector, information and (when requested) spe-
cialised knowledge on issues regarding EU Budgetary Gover-
nance, as a means of interpretating the developments in the 
EU. Understanding at least the fundamentals of EU Budgetary 
Governance allows for a new look on the benefits of Europe-
an integration, a look based on academically verified evidence 
that will enhance the dialogue and the cooperation between 
the academia and the civil society.

One of the tasks of the Chair is the production of materials 
regarding its academic topics. These materials entail a variety 
of texts such as Notebooks, Papers and Books. 

This book aims to provide a point of reference on some 
very technical and specialised issues pertaining EU Budgetary 
Governance and Audit. It will entail a focused analysis of the 
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institutional and legal framework of the audit function, within 
the overall system of EU Budgetary Governance. The 1999 
developments and the subsequent political and institutional 
options on EU governance, as well as the Lisbon Treaty have 
established several schemes pertaining the management of EU 
funds and the corresponding audits. Furthermore, the EU’s 
response to the financial crisis lead to new schemes of pro-
viding financial support to Member States, establishing new 
lending mechanisms and using the EU budget as colla teral. 
These new arrangements set significant challenges for the EU’s 
control and audit system at all levels. The book will seek to 
establish that all these activities and the relevant transactions 
are being audited in an appropriate and efficient manner, and 
to exa mine whether these audit schemes are actually in a po-
sition to provide a substantive assurance on the soundness of 
the EU Budgetary Governance. The entire analysis will seek to 
establish the legitimacy of EU Budgetary Governance in the 
weberian perspective (traditional, charismatic and rational-le-
gal legitimacy).

Given the extent of the EU’s control and audit schemes, the 
book will comprise three volumes.

The first volume will examine the schemes of internal and 
external control and audit within the system of EU Budgetary 
Governance, their advantages and disadvantages, especially 
vis-a-vis each other, and their potential to establish the EU 
Budgetary Governance’s soundness. These schemes are exa-
mined as an integrated system of control and audit.

The second volume will examine the political element of 
the audit schemes included in EU Budgetary Governance. The 
increased role of the European Parliament, as well as the in-
volvement of national parliaments, on issues relevant to the 
management of EU funds, have pointed out, quite emphatical-
ly, that it is necessary for all budgetary activity to be explained 
and justified as the parliamentary institutions are becoming 
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more and more demanding with regard to being well informed 
on such issues before approving or discharging the executive’s 
actions with regard to the EU budget’s implementation at EU 
and national levels.

The third volume will focus on the comparison between the 
classic/traditional types of audit (financial and compliance au-
dit), as these types have been maintained in certain EU mem-
ber states as the sole audit method, and the performance (value 
for money) audit, used by the European Court of Auditors and 
other national audit institutions as additional audit method. 
This comparison will help identifying the more suitable type of 
audit (including the possibility of combining their elements) 
taking into account the nature of the transactions and policies 
to be audited.

Professor Dimitrios Skiadas

Jean Monnet Chair
on EU Budgetary Governance and Audit
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Introduction

One of the most recent and interesting findings with regard 
to public auditing is its under-theorization in academic and 
professional literatures, and the fact that any relevant theore-
tical approach relies heavily on institutional descriptions (i.e. 
analysis of existing public audit institutions) rather than the-
oretical foundations, and in the rare cases of a theoretical ba-
sis for public audit, this is largely self-justificatory or drawn 
from the private audit theoretical analysis and tradition. This 
finding is further highlighted if seen in the context of factors 
which are quite crucial for the function of audit such as: a) 
the importance of public audit on determining the positive 
or negative outcome of the functioning of states, particular-
ly but not exclusively in relation to the disbursement and use 
of “public money”, b) the commitment and use of significant 
monetary, human and other resources to public audit schemes 
and operations, in periods of sustained austerity, thus necessi-
tating a relevant value-for-money explanation, c) the creation 
or maintenance of audit institutional arrangements in various 
countries or similar entities, usually as a result of their histor-
ical experience, aiming to enhance their democratic nature 
and succeeding in appearance but not in essence, and d) the 
public audit institutional framework has not been adjusted to 
the conditions created by the new public management concept 
with regard to the public goods and services provider, i.e. the 
state or the private sector and the adoption of relevant man-
agement practices (see Heald, 2018, pp. 317-318).

This finding provides with a very interesting cause on exa-
mining not only the institutional and political framework of 
public audit, but also its substance, especially with regard to an 
entity such as the European Union, whose sui generis nature 
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creates correspondingly particular conditions and circum-
stances for an operation such as public audit, within its bud-
getary governance. 

It is common ground that the primary concern of all go-
vernments is to establish a scheme through which they can 
achieve the planning of the various public policies and the 
control of collecting revenue and incurring expenditure in 
order to implement these policies. This scheme entails usually 
three basic elements: a) Budgeting, which allows for the plan-
ning, management and coordination of various activities, b) 
Auditing, which provides the tools for ensuring the financial 
control and the accountability of the collection and use of the 
resources and c) Evaluation, which promotes the soundness 
of the use of resources, based on economy, efficiency and ef-
fectiveness. These elements are regarded as central both to the 
proper operation of the functions of the political system, as 
well as the sustaining of economic growth (see Gray, Jenkins & 
Segsworth, 1993, p. 3) 

Subsequently, the element of audit is a core feature in the 
operation of a state or a similar entity. Auditing is a corner-
stone of good public sector governance. By providing unbi-
ased, objective assessments of whether public resources are 
being collected and managed responsibly and effectively to 
achieve intended results, the auditing mechanism helps pub-
lic sector organizations to achieve accountability and integrity, 
improve operations, and create confidence among citizens and 
stakeholders (see Institute of Internal Auditors, 2012, p. 5).

The context in which the public audit operates is public bud-
getary governance. This governance aims at providing public 
goods to the state’s population, and the relevant expenditure 
is to be financed by public revenue, which, in turn, derives, 
directly or indirectly, from the taxes paid by the population. 
Taxation is thus perceived as a form of “sacrifice” suffered by 
each member of the population in order for the state to ob-
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tain the financial means for the production and provision of 
public goods and services (see Skiadas, 2011, p. 30). Thus both 
public revenue and public expenditure constitute elements the 
development of which is imperative to be audited, in order to 
achieve results within the budgetary governance scheme. The 
main reason of this audit lays with a danger that threatens both 
revenue and expenditure, the free-riding i.e. the burden on a 
shared resource that is created by its use or overuse by people 
who aren’t paying their fair share for it or aren’t paying any-
thing at all. It has been found that establishing and using audit 
schemes, with an increased degree of frequency, focusing on 
the compliance of the members of society to their legally pre-
scribed obligations, will lead eventually to a learning outcome 
i.e. the members of society will learn to meet their obligations 
for their own benefit (the educative effect of audit as estab-
lished by Dai, Hogarth & Villeval, 2015). Making the people 
realise that the true significance of the audit schemes is not 
just a mere imposition of sanctions for non-compliance as an 
exogenous effect, but also an integrated function, with an en-
dogenous dimension as, in essence, it makes them part of the 
budgetary governance system though their participation in fi-
nancial as well as political terms, helps them understand the 
negative results of evading their obligations (e.g. taxation) and 
encourages them to behave honestly and accept the (financial 
and political) cost of maintain the audit schemes, or even de-
manding them (see Hsu, 2013). 

It has been argued that auditing is a somehow fuzzy con-
cept that is difficult to define as there are several relevant over-
lapping concepts (e.g. investigation, assessment, verification, 
review, etc) which interact and when used in order to produce 
a definition of audit, they provide a normative and idealized 
projection of the hopes invested in the results of the auditing 
activity instead of providing a description of actual operational 
capability. The core definition refers to financial audit as an 
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independent examination of, and expression of opinion on, 
the financial statements of an entity. Thus, the main conceptu-
al elements are identified: independence from the matter be-
ing audited, technical work in the form of evidence gathering 
and the examination of documentation, the object of finan-
cial audit being the financial statements. These elements have 
been supplemented by the element of accountability as one 
party (agent) gives an account to another (principal) and this 
process should be free of “moral hazards” and “information 
asymmetries” as the agents should not act against the princi-
pals’ inte rests, taking advantage of their superior substantive 
knowledge, thus leading to a risk deduction for the princi-
pals. The notion of audit contains programmatic/normative 
elements relating to the ideas and objectives that shape the 
mission of audit in the context in which it is undertaken, and 
technological/operational elements relating to the actual tasks 
and actions that are included in practicing audit (see Power, 
1997, p. 4-6). 

In this context, the traditional approach of audit had orig-
inally focused on the attestation and compliance functions, 
as these functions are considered to be reasonably objective 
and therefore legitimate. Highlighting objectivity as the most 
significant quality of an auditing scheme, especially with re-
gard to public audit, was challenged by another approach of a 
more normative nature, focusing on the relationship of “what 
is against what ought to be”, thus extending the scope of audit 
from financial and compliance audits to value-for-money/per-
formance audits, and including thus in the auditing objectives 
the verification of efficiency and effectiveness of the govern-
ment’s activities (see Gray, Jenkins & Segsworth, 1993, p. 7). 
This extension has increased the role of the public audit insti-
tutions as mechanisms of contributing to the budgetary gov-
ernance’s in terms of (see Institute of Internal Auditors, 2012, 
p. 5):
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•	 Oversight which focuses on the public sector entities 
complying with their obligations and identifies illegal 
and irregular activities

•	 Insight which focuses on the provision of an indepen-
dent assessment of public sector programs, policies, 
operations, and results in order to assist the competent 
decision-makers 

•	 Foresight which focuses on the identification of trends 
and emerging challenges. 

The tools employed by the public audit institutions in per-
forming these tasks entail financial and compliance audits, 
performance audits, investigations, and advisory services.

In order to bring this analysis into the EU budgetary gover-
nance context, one should examine the provisions of EU pri-
mary law relating to the types of audit employed by the compe-
tent institution, the European Court of Auditors (ECA). These 
are the provisions of Art. 287 (2) TFEU according to which

2. The Court of Auditors shall examine whether all revenue has 
been received and all expenditure incurred in a lawful and regu­
lar manner and whether the financial management has been 
sound. In doing so, it shall report in particular on any cases of 
irregularity.

The audit of revenue shall be carried out on the basis both of 
the amounts established as due and the amounts actually paid 
to the Union.

The audit of expenditure shall be carried out on the basis 
both of commitments undertaken and payments made.

These audits may be carried out before the closure of accounts 
for the financial year in question.

The terms used therein provide the concepts that form the va-
riety of the types of audit to be employed by the ECA in carry-
ing out its tasks. 
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The receipt of the Union’s revenue as well as the incurrence 
of the Union’s expenditure “in a lawful and regular manner” 
refer to the ECA establishing the legality and the regularity of 
the relevant transactions. The ECA’s examination as to legality 
and regularity is based on checking whether individual acts of 
assessment and payment of revenue and, in parallel with these, 
individual commitments and payment operations, have been 
carried out in compliance with the relevant legal provisions 
such as sectoral regulations, conventions, mandates, agree-
ments and contracts. The legality audit goes a little further by 
including a review of the management as a whole, focusing 
mainly on its compatibility with the Treaties and the secon-
dary legislation namely the Financial Regulation (Regulation 
2018/1046 on the financial rules applicable to the general bud-
get of the Union, [2018] OJ, L 193/1 – hereafter the current Fi-
nancial Regulation) as well as any internal management rules 
(See European Court of Auditors, 1996, p. 18-19). These au-
diting activities constitute the financial and compliance audit. 

The ECA’s financial and compliance audit has a further le-
gal basis in EU primary law. According to the provisions of 
Art. 287 (1) TFEU 

1. The Court of Auditors shall examine the accounts of all reve­
nue and expenditure of the Union.

It shall also examine the accounts of all revenue and expen­
diture of all bodies, offices or agencies set up by the Union in so 
far as the relevant constituent instrument does not preclude such 
examination.

The Court of Auditors shall provide the European Parliament 
and the Council with a statement of assurance as to the reliabi­
lity of the accounts and the legality and regularity of the underly­
ing transactions which shall be published in the Official Journal 
of the European Union. This statement may be supplemented by 
specific assessments for each major area of Union activity.
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The examination of the accounts is the core of the financial au-
diting process. And based on this examination the ECA has to 
provide its Statement of Assurance. This Statement represents 
the ECA’s findings on the compliance of the transactions with 
the legal standards and procedures provided for by the rele-
vant EU rules. This compliance is based also on the reliability 
of the audited accounts, something that is to be verified by the 
ECA. 

The soundness of the financial management is verified 
through the examination of three inter-related aspects of mana-
gement, called the three “Es”: Economy, Efficiency and Effec-
tiveness. The “Economy” relates planned input of resources to 
the actual input meaning the examination of whether the least 
expensive means of achieving a given target have been used or 
not, i.e. it is an examination of alternatives. The “Efficiency” is 
reflected by the relationship between actual input (resources) 
and actual output (results achieved) meaning the examination 
of whether the means adopted were employed in the most ap-
propriate manner, it is an examination of performance. The 
“Effectiveness” which is measured by the comparison of ac-
tual output with planned output meaning the examination of 
whether the purpose has been achieved or not i.e. it is an exa-
mination of the success rate. These examinations constitute 
the performance or “value for money” audit (see James, 1984, 
p. 475, Strasser, 1992, p. 279). 

The structure of the analysis entails a presentation of the fi-
nancial and compliance audit functions, as undertaken by the 
ECA, a presentation of the performance audit as undertaken 
by the ECA and a comparison between these two schemes, ai-
ming at highlighting their complementarity. The main source 
for the materials regarding the proceedings of the audit func-
tions included in those two schemes will be the corresponding 
manuals prepared by the ECA. At the end of the analysis there 
is an annex with graphs presenting the main stages of the au-
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diting process: planning, examining and reporting.
Before entering the analysis however, it is important to 

remember the method of audit employed by the ECA, as 
this will provide a global picture of the audit operations 
undertaken by this institution. Τhis method, known as the 
“systems-based approach” entails the following (see Europe-
an Court of Auditors, 1981, p. 8-9):

“…the auditor seeks to rely, as far as possible, on the way in 
which the information he is to audit is produced. It is based 
on the idea that the internal administration, by its organi­
sation and mode of operation, should be self controlling; this 
constitutes the concept of internal control. In applying this 
approach the Court examines all the elements of the institu­
tion’s internal management which makes up the processes of 
authorising, recording and verifying financial transactions 
e.g. the organisation plan and the allocation of responsibili­
ties for actions and decisions having financial and account­
ing implications. If the systems and procedures appear to be 
sound, the Court carries out tests of cases and transactions 
and such analytical checks as it deems necessary to confirm 
that the systems are operating as described and producing 
satisfactory results. If systems’ weaknesses are identified, 
cases and transactions are examined to establish the practi­
cal consequences of weaknesses… It is in the interests of the 
Communities in general that any deficiencies in manage­
ment procedures should be identified and remedied.”

This method necessitates the following actions on behalf of the 
ECA auditors (see James, 1984, p. 477):

“a) to ascertain and document the whole system of control 
within the organisation,

b) to check that the prescribed system is actually followed,
c) to evaluate the system and identify weak areas,
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d)  to carry out compliance tests over the whole year (these 
tests are to provide each year a reasonable degree of 
assurance that the prescribed accounting system and 
controls actually exist and are being complied with, in­
cluding the questions: i) were the necessary procedures 
performed, ii) were they performed by the appropriate 
person, iii) how well they were performed),

e)  to prepare audit plans and programmes of the substan­
tive tests indicated to be needed (these tests are to obtain 
evidence as to the validity and the propriety of the treat­
ment of accounting transactions or, conversely, of errors 
or irregularities therein, unintentional or intentional, 
which have a material monetary effect on the accounts 
being audited,

f)  to carry out these programmes,
g)  to carry out such other tests (e.g. analytical, compara­

tive) as considered necessary,
h)  to record and report the results,
i)  to determine and carry out substantive tests on the final 

accounts.” 

It is therefore imperative for the ECA at first to examine, ana-
lyse and document the system of internal control of the auditee 
and then to test the compliance of the system’s actual function 
in practice with the theoretical model made by the ECA after 
the first examination (see Kok, 1989, p. 354). If the results of 
this test show that the system is valid, then the ECA’s auditor 
proceeds with the examination of essential figures of financial 
transactions using though a limited number of samples and 
carries out substantive and comparative tests (European Court 
of Auditors, 1996, p. 21). This method is compatible with ope-
rations in financial and compliance audits as well as with ope-
rations in performance audits. 
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Financial and Compliance Audit in the EU 
Budgetary Governance

1.1. General Remarks

It is well known that the need for accounting and auditing has 
very deep historical routes. Their timeless presence is linked to 
the development of economic transactions at all levels, inclu-
ding the financial markets and the states’ implementation of 
public policies. Thus accounting has become the fundamental 
language of the financial communication presenting an image 
of the financial situation of an entity and auditing has become 
the instrument that provides accounting with the necessary 
credibility for such a presentation (see Obert & Mairesse, 2009, 
p. 1-2). 

In the EU context, the audit consists, at first, in providing 
assurance i.e. expressing conclusions and, where required, 
opinions on a given subject, either on the reliability of the 
consolidated annual accounts or on the compliance with ap-
plicable laws and regulations. These are the “assurance engage-
ments” of the ECA, as they are designed to enhance the degree 
of confidence of the intended users in the subject concerned, 
by applying objective criteria thereto. An assurance engage-
ment may be (see European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 8): 
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•	 a reasonable assurance engagement which entails ac-
tions aiming to reduce risk to an acceptably low level 
so as to obtain reasonable assurance as the basis for a 
positive form of expression of the conclusion(s) and, 
where required, an opinion reached on the basis of au-
dit procedures performed (e.g. “the accounts present/do 
not present fairly...”); 

•	 a limited assurance engagement which entails the em-
ployment of limited procedures leading to a limited or 
moderate assurance as the basis for a negative form of 
expression of conclusion (e.g. “nothing has come to our 
attention to indicate that...”). 

Such assurances derive from financial and compliance audits 
enabling the ECA to form a conclusion on the particular audit 
objectives and, where required, to issue an audit opinion. The 
ECA’s financial and compliance audits typically encompass au-
dits of (see European Court of Auditors, 2017a, pp. 10-11): a) 
reliability of accounts which comprise the financial statements 
and the report(s) on implementation of the budget, aiming to 
establish whether the consolidated annual accounts present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and the 
results of operations and cash flows in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework, b) the legality and 
regularity of transactions underlying the accounts aiming to 
establish whether the transactions comply, in all material re-
spects, with the applicable laws and regulations (i.e. the TFEU, 
the Financial Regulation, Implementing Rules, specific regu-
lations, financing decisions and contractual provisions). The 
financial and compliance audits entail testing the effectiveness 
of internal control systems, including those concerned with 
the reliability of the consolidated annual accounts or prevent-
ing or detecting and correcting illegal and irregular revenue 
and expenditure. An overview of the main elements of the 
ECA’s financial and compliance audits is the following:
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Both financial and compliance audits entail procedures of 
gathering, updating and analysing information from different 
sources, in order ultimately to make decisions, draw conclu-
sions and, where required, issue an audit opinion, based on 
sound professional judgement. They entail three phases: plan-
ning, examination and reporting. The planning phase entail 
the assessment of material risks through understanding the 
audit environment, the collection and analysis of information 
and the design of audit procedures. The examination phase en-
tails the actual performance of audit procedures such as tests of 
control, analytical and other substantive procedures, the eva-
luation of results in light of the expectations and the revision 
of the audit approach if deemed necessary. Finally the report-
ing phase entails the formation of the audit conclusion and/or 
opinion and the drafting of the relevant report. Throughout 
these phases, the relevant documentation of the audit process 
and findings should be organized in a timely manner, be al-
ways updated and provide sufficient detail in order to support 
the clear understanding of the work performed, evidence ob-
tained and conclusions reached (see European Court of Audi-
tors, 2017a, p. 14-15).

More specifically the planning phase involves collecting 
and assessing information and making decisions as to the audit 
scope, approach, timing and resources. The aim is to perform 
audit work that reduces, to an acceptably low level, the risk of 
reaching a wrong conclusion or, where required, an opinion 
on the audit objectives. The relevant outputs are a) an Audit 
Planning Memorandum (APM), which commits the resources 
and sets out the overall strategy for the audit, and b) Audit 
Programmes, which contain the instructions for the nature, 
timing and extent of audit work to be performed. The nature 
and extent of planning activities vary according to the size and 
complexity of the audited subject and the auditor’s previous 
experience with the auditee. It must be noted that audit plan-
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ning is not static but rather a continual and interactive process 
which continues throughout the audit, responding to new cir-
cumstances such as unforeseen changes in the auditee’s opera-
tions or systems, or unexpected results coming to light during 
the examination phase of the audit. In order for the plan to 
be complete, the following is required: a) the determination 
of materiality (i.e. setting the level of deviation considered to 
be likely to influence users of the financial information) both 
from a quantitative and qualitative perspective, b) the identifi-
cation and assessment of material risks (risks that are deemed 
tolerable coming to a wrong conclusion – for the ECA this is 
5%) through understanding the entity and its environment, in-
cluding its internal control, c) the design of audit procedures 
regarding the nature, timing and extent of the audit work to 
be performed in response to the risks identified and d) the 
drawing up of the Audit Planning Memorandum (APM) and 
the Audit Programme. It should be noted that a financial or 
compliance audit is not a mere series of mechanical steps to 
be completed. During the planning of such audit tasks, profes-
sional judgement and skepticism should be exercised, and the 
knowledge obtained from relevant performance audits in the 
field in question should be taken into account (see European 
Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 19-60 for more details).

The examination phase involves a series of activities as 
means to carry out the audit procedures as planned, to modify 
it as deemed necessary during its course, and to evaluate the 
results thereof. These activities are the following: At first it is 
necessary to design the audit in order to determine the nature, 
timing and extent of test of controls and substantive proce-
dures. This includes a selection of specific items for testing, 
sampling, defining errors, and determining population and 
samples. The key element is to collect evidence using the au-
dit tools available. The tests of controls are to be preceded by 
an evaluation of the internal controls concerned. The methods 
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of gathering relevant and reliable evidence entail inspections, 
observations, enquiries, confirmations, recalculations, re-per-
formances, information from other sources such as written 
representations or the work of others, and analytical proce-
dures i.e. procedures used to help conduct a more economic, 
efficient and effective audit, that consist of studying plausible 
relationships between both financial and non-financial data, 
whether within the same period and entity and/or from dif-
ferent periods and entities. These audits will provide details as 
well as values based on the relationship between the data col-
lected, but the quality of data collected has to be assured. The 
evidence collected will be analysed in order to determine the 
causes and effects of the errors found. Such errors should be 
accurately recorded, especially when testing a statistical sam-
ple, so that the audit results can be projected or extrapolated. 
It is necessary to understand the nature and cause of the errors 
found, and thus the errors should be classified as quantifiable 
or non-quantifiable, as material by value, nature or context, as 
an isolated anomaly or a systematic occurrence. The monetary 
errors are projected on the relevant audited items in order to 
consider their impact while in cases of non-statistical samples, 
it is necessary to judge on the likely nature of misstatements 
on non-compliances. The scale of errors found is compared to 
the tolerable error threshold set by the ECA. The outcome of 
this process is to be a professional judgement evaluating the 
quantitative and qualitative aspects of the errors and providing 
a conclusion on the status of the audited items. This conclusion 
is to be communicated to the auditee, along with its factual ba-
sis, so that this basis is cleared and be used without any further 
disputes in the audit’s report (see European Court of Auditors, 
2017a, p. 61-89 for more details)

The reporting phase consists of the production of the ECA’s 
various reports. Their purpose is to communicate the results 
of ECA’s work to the discharge authority, the auditee and the 
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general public. The key to a good report is effective commu-
nication, as the report must clearly and objectively set out the 
main findings and conclusions on the audit objectives, allow-
ing the reader to understand what was done, why and how, and 
providing practical recommendations. The reporting phase 
begins with the drafting of the preliminary observations and 
ends with the publication of the report. It includes drafting, 
approval of the preliminary observations by the Chamber and 
the ECA, the adversarial procedure with the auditee, the adop-
tion of the final report by the ECA, its translation, presentation 
to the discharge authority and its publication. The ECA pro-
duces three types of financial and compliance audit reports, 
the Annual Report, the Specific Annual Reports and the Spe-
cial Reports (these may entail the results of performance au-
dits as well), as follows: 
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Types of reports published by ECA

Annual Reports Specific
Annual Reports

Special 
Reports

Subject

Final Consolidated 
annual accounts 
of the European 
Union and the 

underlying 
transactions

Annual accounts 
of the European 

Development Fund 
and the underlying 

transactions

Annual accounts 
of other EU 

bodies, offices 
and agencies and 

the underlying 
transactions, as 
provided by EU 

Law

Specific 
management 

topic or 
budgetary 

area

Basis
Obligation of the 
ECA stated in the 

TFEU

Obligation of 
the ECA stated 
in the TFEU or 

regulations of the 
bodies, offices 
and agencies

Right of the 
ECA stated 

in the TFEU, 
initiated 
as a ECA 
decision

Frequency Annual Annual As decided 
by the ECA

Opinion Statement of 
Assurance

Statement of 
Assurance

Non-
standard

Scope of 
the report

Reliability 

Legality & 
Regularity 

- 

Reliability 

Legality & 
Regularity 

- 

- 

Compliance 

Performance 

Source: European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 92
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The reports produced by the ECA must have the following 
qualities:

Quality How to achieve 
objective judge actual performance against objective criteria 
complete include relevant aspects of the matters reported 

clear use straightforward language and a clear structure and 
headings 

convincing present arguments persuasively, with illustrative exam-
ples 

relevant ensure contents are important and timely for the 
report’s users 

accurate ensure findings are correctly portrayed to ensure 
credibility 

constructive be balanced 
concise use short and simple sentences and paragraphs 

Source: European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 93

Usually the audit reports refer to third parties involved in the 
audited transactions. The ECA may include such references in 
its reports only if there are specific circumstances, i.e. if it is 
necessary and proportionate in view of the report’s objective, 
if it the party in question has been given the right to submit its 
observations with regard to the relevant points of the report 
and if the duty of care relating to the verification and inter-
pretation of the fact under audit has been duly exercised. Par-
ticular reference is to be made to the Statement of Assurance 
provided by the ECA according to Art. 287(1) TFEU. Its main 
objectives are to assure that the annual accounts of the auditee 
are a) reliable i.e. they present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position, operations and cash flows of the auditee 
and were prepared in accordance with the applicable financial 
reporting framework, and b) legal and regular i.e. the transac-
tions underlying the annual accounts comply with the applica-
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ble legal and regulatory framework. The structure of this doc-
ument reflects its objective. Therein based on the consolidated 
accounts, the auditors determine and describe key matters, 
taking into account areas of higher assessed risk of material 
misstatement, significant auditor judgements or the effect of 
significant events or transactions during the period audited. 
The reports provide unmodified opinions (conclusions that the 
annual consolidated accounts of the EU have been prepared, 
in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable fi-
nancial reporting framework, because the auditors obtained 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error), or modified opinions (conclusions that the 
accounts are not free from material misstatement or the un-
derlying transactions do not comply in all material respects 
with authorities, or the auditors have been unable to obtain 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence). The types of modified 
opinion are as follows: 

Types of modified opinions

Nature of matter giving 
rise to the modification

Auditor’s judgement about the perva-
siveness of the effects or possible effects 
on the annual accounts or underlying 

transactions
Material but not 

pervasive
Material and 

pervasive
Annual accounts are 

materially misstated, or 
underlying transactions do 
not comply, in all material 
respects, with the legal and 

regulatory framework

Qualified opinion Adverse opinion

Inability to obtain suffi-
cient appropriate audit 

evidence on which to base 
the opinion

Qualified opinion Disclaimer of 
opinion

Source: European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 106
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Furthermore, the ECA, although not an investigative body and 
lacking the legal authority of determining if a particular trans-
action is fraudulent, has to assess the compliance of the audi-
ted transaction with the relevant legal framework and report 
its findings to both the auditee and the appropriate EU body, 
namely OLAF (see European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 91-
115 for more details on the reporting phase). 

In addition to these general aspects of the financial and 
compliance audits, there are some elements, specific for each 
one of them. 

1.2.  EU Financial Audit - Verification of 
the Reliability of the Accounts

The accounts to be audited by the ECA comprise the financial 
statements and the report(s) on implementation of the budget 
for the financial year. Such audits are conducted in respect of 
the European Union and institutions, the European Develop-
ment Fund, agencies, joint undertakings, European Schools, 
and any other relevant body set up by the Union insofar as 
the relevant constituent instrument does not preclude such 
an exa mination. Their reliability is established when they are 
found to be free from material misstatement and bias, and that 
they can be depended upon by users to represent faithfully that 
which they claim to represent or could reasonably be expected 
to represent. Faithful representation requires that transactions 
and other events are a) presented in accordance with their sub-
stance and not merely their legal form, b) neutral or free from 
bias, c) prudent, so that assets or revenue are not overstated 
and liabilities or expenses are not understated, d) complete in 
all material respects, and e) comparable over time and between 
entities. The relevant financial statements for a given year must 
completely and accurately report the cash flows and financial 
results for that particular year, including all assets and liabi-
lities, thus providing a true reflection of the auditee’s financial 
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position (see European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 125).
The objective of the financial audit is to determine whether 

the accounts present fairly, in all material respects, the finan-
cial position, results and cash flow for the year, in accordance 
with the applicable financial reporting framework, which, in 
the case of the EU, includes the Financial Regulation and the 
accounting rules developed by the Commission’s Accounting 
Officer (see European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 126). 

The ECA’s financial audits seek to ensure that the assertions 
made by the auditee with regard to the reliability of its accounts 
are satisfied through the collection and evaluation of sufficient, 
relevant and reliable evidence. These assertions are relevant to: 

•	 transactions for the period under audit, i.e. a) transac-
tions having actually occurred (occurrence), b) transac-
tions having been recorded as planned (completeness), 
c) amounts having been recorded appropriately (accura-
cy), d) transactions having been recorded in the correct 
accounting period (cut-off), e) transactions having been 
recorded in the proper accounts (classification) and f) 
budgetary appropriations are available (legality and reg-
ularity).

•	 transactions at period-end, i.e. the existence of assets, 
liabilities, and equity interests, the control or holding of 
the rights to assets and the existence of obligation (lia-
bilities), the assets, liabilities and equity interests ha ving 
been recorded as planned, the assets, liabilities, and eq-
uity interests are included in the financial statements at 
appropriate amounts and the relevant valuations or allo-
cation adjustments are appropriately recorded.

•	 Presentation and disclosure, i.e. the disclosure of trans-
actions and events having occurred, the disclosed trans-
actions having been recorded as necessary, the financial 
information is presented appropriately and disclosed 
fairly at appropriate amounts.
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Furthermore, the audit seeks to verify the assertions relating 
to the Notes to the accounts, i.e. their commentary. Finally, the 
audit reports on budgetary implementation focus on changes 
in the consolidated resources and their coherence with chan-
ges in the reserves, funds and capital as disclosed in the Bal-
ance Sheet, on the amounts of financial commitments, the 
individual legal commitments, and the payments (per instru-
ment, policy area, etc.) being supported by appropriate docu-
mentation, on the reliability of the financial information, and 
on the proper presentation and disclosure of the relevant items 
by the Notes (see European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 127-
129). 

An overview of the financial reporting requirements with 
regard to reliability audits performed by the ECA is as follows:

Audit scope Format of 
audit report

Legal base for the 
audit

Consolidated financial state-
ments and the reports on im-
plementation of the ge neral 

budget, which present in 
aggregated form the financial 

information relating to the 
institutions and bodies

Statement of 
Assurance 

(SoA) opinion 
+ supporting 
observations

Art 287 of the Trea-
ty on the Function-
ing of the European 

Union

Financial statements and 
report on financial imple-
mentation of the European 

Development Funds

SoA opinion 
+ supporting 
observations

Art 287TFEU (by 
analogy) and EDF 
Financial Regula-

tion
Accounts of the European 

Schools
Report on the 

accounts
Financial Regula-

tion of the Europe-
an Schools

Accounts of agencies, offices 
and other bodies

SoA-type 
opinion

Relevant Council 
Regulation for each 
agency and satellite 

body
Source: European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 181
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1.3. EU Compliance Audit – Legality and Regularity 

Compliance audit comprises the assessment of whether activi-
ties, financial transactions and information are in accordance 
with the legal and regulatory framework which governs them, 
such as budgetary laws or resolutions, other relevant laws, 
regulations and agreements, or specific rules. EU primary law 
(Art. 287 TFEU) has granted the ECA with the authority to 
conduct two different types of compliance audit: a) The lega-
lity and regularity audit of the underlying transactions for the 
European Union, as well as for all bodies set up by the Union 
insofar as the relevant constituent instrument does not pre-
clude such examination (aiming to produce the Statement of 
Assurance and to provide evidence for the Annual Reports of 
the ECA), and b) selected compliance audits which are under-
taken on the basis of their priority, as determined by ECA, on 
specific financial management topics or budgetary areas (see 
European Court of Auditors, 2017a, pp. 187-188).

Taking these definitions into account, the aims of compli-
ance audits are straightforward: to report to the discharge au-
thority and other stakeholders on whether the activities, finan-
cial transactions and information are, in all material respects, 
in compliance with the legal and regulatory frameworks which 
govern them. The objectives of a legality and regularity audit 
are to ensure that, in all material respects, the transactions 
conform to the relevant requirements of the relevant EU pri-
mary and secondary legislation, the transactions are eligible 
under the double legal basis principle (see below), the budget 
line to which the transaction was charged has been approved, 
and the transaction has actually occurred and been properly 
recorded. Within the framework of the selected compliance 
audits, emphasis could be placed on one or more of these ob-
jectives, depending on the subject matter (see European Court 
of Auditors, 2017a, pp. 189).
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One of the key concepts in the compliance audit scheme is 
the term “underlying transactions”. The ECA defines them as 
transfers of funds from the Union’s budget to final recipients of 
EU spending, and transfers of revenue from Member States to 
the Union’s budget. These transfers may go through different 
stages of the expenditure cycle (budgetary and legal commit-
ment, validation, authorisation and payment of expenditure) 
and give rise to several entries in the Commission’s budgetary 
accounts or financial statements. The Commission’s budge-
tary accounts capture the payment cycle of expenditure on a 
cash basis. A transfer of funds generally results in more than 
one payment, which may take different forms serving different 
objectives. Pre-financing payments (advances) are intended to 
provide the beneficiary with a float and are provided after the 
signature of the delegation agreement, the contract or grant 
agreement or after receipt of the grant decision. Interim pay-
ments are made as a counterpart of a partial execution of the 
action. Final payments are intended to pay the balance of the 
amounts due where the action is completely executed. The 
Commission’s financial statements, in accordance with the 
principle of accrual-based accounting, reflect economic rea-
lity. Entries are booked in the accounts when they occur and 
not when cash is actually paid or recovered. Payments of funds 
may be booked as a pre-financing or other asset in the balance 
sheet or as an expense in the economic outturn account (see 
European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 190).

The ECA’s judgement on legality and regularity of transac-
tion is made when it has passed through the whole transfer 
cycle (committed, validated, authorised and paid) and there is 
sufficient evidence about the economic reality underlying the 
transaction, i.e. it is substantiated by expenditure incurred at 
the level of the final recipient. The audit is extended from the 
level of central management of the Union institutions to the 
level of the final recipients or those providing the Union with 
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own resources. The means employed are actions, procedures, 
processes or documents, of a legal, administrative, financial or 
banking nature, as well as any physical events or factors which 
underlie them to the extent necessary to form a robust judge-
ment. With regard to EU expenditure, underlying transactions 
to be audited include a) payments of the entire amount due, b) 
interim payments by the Commission (partly) reimbursing ex-
penditure incurred at the level of final recipients, as well as the 
related pre-financing registered in the EU’s balance sheet or 
expenses registered in the EU’s economic outturn account, c) 
final payments by the Commission (especially those expenses 
based on the final validation of expenditure incurred at the 
level of final recipients). Advances paid by the Commission 
to public authorities managing EU funds or final recipients 
are not included in the audit sample population and the same 
applies to interim payments by the Commission reimbursing 
advances establishing or contributing to funds, e.g. financial 
engineering instruments or reimbursing advances paid to final 
recipients. With regard to EU revenue, given the audit’s objec-
tive, the underlying transactions are those having reached a 
final stage and the revenue is due for collection, and the Com-
mission has established the amount receivable and applied 
recovery procedures. Most of revenue is represented by own 
resources which are generally cashed before the correspond-
ing recovery orders are issued. But the recovery orders issued 
in the audited financial year will form the core of the relevant 
audit sample (see European Court of Auditors, 2017a, pp. 191-
193). 

The criteria for an act to be found illegal are set out in Arti-
cle 263 TFEU: lack of competence (of those adopting the act), 
infringement of an essential procedural requirement, infringe-
ment of the Treaties or of any rule of law relating to their appli-
cation, and misuse of powers. An act (or omission) is irregular 
(according to Regulation 1995/2988 on the protection of the 
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European Communities financial interests [1995] OJ, L 312) if 
it infringes a provision of EU law and has, or would have, the 
effect of reducing or losing revenue or including an unjusti-
fied item of expenditure. The ECA does not make a distinction 
between the two concepts (see European Court of Auditors, 
2017a, pp. 193-194) seeking the verification of legality and re-
gularity of an act or omission on its compliance in all material 
respects with the relevant parts of the legislation.

The legality aspect entails also the double legal basis ne-
cessity for the EU expenditures which is practically the im-
plementation of the principles, provided for in paras 3 and 4 
of Art. 310 TFEU (see Skiadas, 2020, p. 24-27). This scheme 
entails, at first, the adoption of a basic legal act which provides 
the foundation necessary for the Union measure and the relat-
ed expenditure. Then there is the legal commitment which is 
the act whereby the authorising officer enters into or establish-
es an obligation which results in a charge. It may consist of a 
financing decision or contract. The financing decisions, which 
are required for all operational expenditure, are ta ken by the 
Commission. These decisions specify the activities which will 
be undertaken to implement the budget for a given year. In 
order to be implemented, they must be followed by award 
decisions. The award decisions (e.g. contracts) are se parate 
implementation decisions generally taken by the responsible 
authorising officer, on the basis of a financing decision already 
adopted by the Commission. An award decision spe cifies to 
whom contracts or grants are awarded. Finally there is the 
budgetary commitment which is the operation reserving the 
appropriation necessary to cover subsequent payments to 
honour a legal commitment. It is based on an appropriation 
made available in the budget by the budgetary authority. Reve-
nue and expenditure are shown in the budget in accordance 
with a binding nomenclature which reflects the nature and 
purpose of each item, as imposed by the budgetary authority 
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(see European Court of Auditors, 2017a, pp. 194) This scheme 
is highlighted as follows: 

Source: European Court of Auditors, 2017a, p. 195

Overall the legality and regularity audit aims to verify the exis-
tence and accuracy of underlying transactions, their eligibility 
with regard to criteria set, their compliance with other regula-
tory requirements, the correctness of the relevant calculations, 
and the completeness and accuracy of accounting, meaning 
that all transactions are accounted for, are not included more 
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than once, and are recorded in the correct accounting period 
and at correct value (see European Court of Auditors, 2017a, 
pp. 196). 

1.4. The EU experience of financial and compliance audits

The audit work performed by the ECA, especially with regard 
to financial and compliance audits, in order to provide the re-
quired Statement of Assurance provides with interesting rele-
vant insights.

The key element, for obvious substantive as well as polit-
ical issues, is for the ECA to provide an unqualified (“clean”) 
opinion in its Statement of Assurance for all items under audit. 
Since the introduction of this document in the EU audit frame-
work, in 1994, providing such an opinion has been originally 
impossible for the ECA, a situation which changed gradually. 

As noted above, the ECA, in order to provide assurance as 
to whether the payments comply with the legal and regulato-
ry framework, draws on the results of its examination of both 
supervisory and control systems and representative samples of 
the transactions (payments) themselves, reaching to the lev-
el of the final beneficiaries. The ECA compares the estimated 
error rate based on the results of its representative samples of 
transactions against what is deemed to be a tolerable limit - or 
materiality threshold - to determine the nature of the opinion 
to be given. In the absence of a political decision setting a tol-
erable level of error, the ECA, using its professional judgement, 
has set and applied always a threshold of two percent (2%) by 
value of the population under audit. The estimated error rate 
is thus an indication of the percentage of funds that should not 
have been paid out. Errors of more than 2% of the expenditure 
category are considered material, as are facts and events that 
may change the perception of the reader of the accounts if dis-
closed. If the level of error is judged not to be material the ECA 
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issues an unqualified (i.e. “clean”) opinion. Where the level of 
error is material, and depending on how pervasive it is, the 
ECA issues a negative (called “adverse” for more serious cases 
or “qualified” when the negative aspect is quite minimal) opi-
nion (see Caldeira, 2008, p. 12, European Court of Auditors, 
2014b, p. 22).

It has been suggested that the adoption of a political deci-
sion on the tolerable level of risk (and error) is necessary due 
to the complexity of the EU financial management and audit 
system, especially as it entails the three types of centralized, 
decentralized and shared management. Establishing extensive 
schemes of lower-level financial controls, such as on-the-spot 
audits, is going be to very expensive, thus creative alternatives 
must be sought. Therefore, the following have to be agreed 
upon (see Caldeira, 2008, p. 19): 

•	 Not all final beneficiaries can be checked on-the-spot, 
and consequently there will always be some residual 
risk of error, so it is imperative to set that risk at an 
appropriate (tolerable) level.

•	 Costs of control are an important issue, both for the 
EU budget and Member or beneficiary States. 

•	 The cost/risk balance in individual policy areas is of 
such importance that it should be approved at the po-
litical level (i.e. by the budget/discharge authorities) 
in the name of the citizens of the Union 

•	 If a scheme (e.g. political initiative, programme, etc) 
cannot be satisfactorily implemented at an acceptable 
level of cost and with tolerable risk it should be recon-
sidered. 

In the ECA’s audit approach, the errors arise when payments 
are neither legal nor regular, (e.g, when claimed by ineligible 
beneficiaries), for expenditure that should not be financed by 
the EU, or when the conditions for receiving the aid are not 
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followed. These problems (reported as errors) occur because 
(see European Court of Auditors, 2014b, p. 22): 

•	 beneficiaries make incorrect declarations 
•	 beneficiaries do not comply with the conditions for 

getting and using the EU support. Complex and wide-
ranging conditions can make it difficult both for bene-
ficiaries to comply with, and for managers to establish 
compliance. Unclear conditions can be open to inter-
pretation and lead to expenditure being accepted in a 
spending culture (i.e. where there is pressure to spend 
the budget available without regard to whether it meets 
genuine needs)

•	 checks and controls by the Commission, the Member 
States’ managing bodies and other auditors certifying 
the expenditure fail to prevent, detect and correct erro-
neous expenditure declarations

•	 Member States and others charged with spending the 
budget focus on using it (absorption of expenditure) 
within the required time period, at the expense of using 
it properly or effectively, rather than losing it. 

Such circumstances have caused the ECA to refrain, for several 
years, from providing in its Statements of Assurance unquali-
fied opinions on the accounts of the EU. For the EU accounts 
till 31.12.2006, the ECA’s opinion on their reliability was qua-
lified i.e. it accepted in principle that these accounts provided 
a fair presentation of the Union’s financial situation, but it was 
accompanied by a series of observations regarding identified 
errors, complex systems of financial management and rese r-
vations put forward by authorising officers (see for instance 
European Court of Auditors, 2006, p. 10-11, European Court 
of Auditors, 2007, p. 9-10). For the economic year 2007 (i.e. 
EU accounts till 31.12.2007), the ECA provided, for the first 
time, an opinion accepting practically the reliability of the ac-
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counts as a whole (see Caldeira, 2008, p. 12), identifying as 
risks some weaknesses noted in the Union’s accounting sys-
tems (see European Court of Auditors, 2008, p 11-12). Since 
that time the ECA’s opinion on the reliability of the EU ac-
counts has remained positive and its observations have been 
gradually removed.

However, this did not prevent the ECA from maintaining 
from 1994 till 2016 its negative opinion on the legality and 
regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts. For in-
stance, during the period 2009–2012, the estimated most likely 
error rate affecting the EU budget has varied between 3.3% 
– 4.8% of the total expenditure (see European Court of Au-
ditors, 2014b, p. 22), exceeding the threshold set by the ECA. 
Thus, in the relevant Statements for Assurance produced by 
the ECA from 1994 till 2015 (the EU accounts till 31.12.2015) 
while the revenue accounts were found to be legal and regular 
in all material respects (an opinion which has been maintained 
till now), the expenditure accounts were found to be materi-
ally affected by error thus leading to a adverse opinion by the 
ECA (see for instance European Court of Auditors, 2016, p. 
11). However, for the EU accounts of the year 2016, the ECA 
took notice of the sustained improvement in the estimated le-
vel of error in the payments made from the EU budget over the 
last four years till then: for 2013 4.7% (see European Court of 
Auditors, 2014c, p. 10-11), for 2014 4.4% (see European Court 
of Auditors, 2015, p. 11), for 2015 3.8% (see European Court 
of Auditors, 2016, p. 11), and for 2016 3.1% (see European 
Court of Auditors, 2017c, p. 10-11). Despite the figure being 
still above the 2% threshold set by the ECA, it was deemed 
not to be pervasive as the payments made on an entitlement 
basis (the main item in the audit sample – these payments are 
made to beneficiaries for meeting conditions rather than to re-
imburse costs) were not affected by a material level of error 
(see European Court of Auditors, 2017c, p. 10-11). Thus the 
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ECA expressed a qualified (instead of adverse) opinion on the 
legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts. 
Subsequently, this qualified opinion has been maintained for 
the legality and regularity of payments underlying the 2017 EU 
accounts and the 2018 EU accounts, despite the fact that the 
estimated level of error has fallen to 2.4% for 2017 and to 2.6% 
for 2018 (see European Court of Auditors, 2018, p. 10-11, Eu-
ropean Court of Auditors, 2019a, p. 10-11). 

A final relevant issue is the key audit matters, i.e. matters 
that, in the ECA’s professional judgement, were of most sig-
nificance in its audits and although addressed in detail in the 
context of the audits of the financial statements as a whole, 
and influenced the ECA’s opinion, it has not been deemed ne-
cessary to provide a separate opinion on them and they have 
been included in the overall opinion delivered. For instance, 
such matters for 2017 included the accounting treatment of 
the European Fund for Strategic Investments (EFSI) guaran-
tee for the equity portfolios due to the complex accounting 
issues arising from the arrangements between the EU and the 
EIB, as the EU guarantee granted to the EIB was treated as 
a) a financial guarantee liability for the Infrastructure and In-
novation Window debt portfolio, b) a financial provision for 
the ’Small and Medium-sized Enterprises Window debt port-
folio, and c) as a derivative (financial asset or liability at fair 
value through surplus or deficit) for both equity portfolios (see 
European Court of Auditors, 2018, p. 11). For 2018 one such 
matter has been the potential impact of the United Kingdom’s 
withdrawal from the Union on the EU accounts (see European 
Court of Auditors, 2019a, p. 11). On both occasions, the ECA 
conclu ded that there has been no financial impact on the EU 
accounts, and they provided a true and fair view of the Union’s 
financial position. 
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Performance Audit in the EU Budgetary 
Governance

2.1. General Remarks

Seeking the verification of good performance in the prepara-
tion and implementation of public policies has been an idea 
introduced and established in the late 1980s and early 1990s 
as an alternative to the existing, till then, template of public 
governance.

That template had been based on the weberian concept of 
bureaucracy and had been developed globally, entailing vari-
ous ways of policy drafting and implementation through the 
executive branch of state authority, all of them being, however, 
based on the element of bureaucratic/technocratic expertise. 
The term “bureaucratic expertise” captures the idea that a full-
time official will have the requisite expertise over a certain po-
licy area, depending, in any case, on the duration of the offi-
cial’s service in the relevant public authority, or the nature of 
the official’s work. The “translation” of this bureaucratic exper-
tise into technocratic/technical expertise has been challenged 
both on terms of actual performance as well as on terms of sci-
entific pluralism, in the sense that the answers provided by the 
expert bureaucrats, to problems that needed to be dealt with, 
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based on their scientific knowledge, have not been considered 
as “objective” anymore, but they are contentious in scientific 
terms, and that any one version of the scientific solution may 
embody value judgements of a social, moral or political na-
ture, even if such factors are not immediately apparent on the 
face of the decision (see Craig, 2015, p. 701-702). There had 
been various surveys examining the efficiency of the bureau-
cratic schemes of various states in Europe, using various cri-
teria, which demonstrated that there are delays or low quality 
of service and significant instances of fraud and corruption, 
albeit with variations of size and intensity between the various 
states (see, for instance, Sotiropoulos, 2004). In that context, 
the chan ges in the predominant political ideologies regarding 
the shape and function of the state and public administration 
as well as the technological changes, have caused the question-
ing of the public sector having a monopoly on public goods 
and public service delivery, in favour of the private or even the 
voluntary sector (see Bourn, 2007, pp. 2-3). 

The result of these developments was a main change in the 
organization and operation of public governance which has 
been expressed by the introduction and use of the New Public 
Management concept. This concept consists of ideas origina-
ting from private sector administration practice and empha-
sizes on cost control, financial transparency, decentralization 
of management authority, creating market mechanisms with 
regard to purchasing and providing goods and services, en-
hancing accountability to recipients of public goods and ser-
vices (defined as “customers”) with regard especially to the 
quality of operations and results via the creation and use of 
performance indicators. It has been understood as an effort 
or a desire to replace the presumed inefficiency of the hierar-
chical bureaucracy with market-efficient schemes, one of the 
most radical characteristics of this approach being the provi-
sion of accountability not only in terms of conformity to legal 
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provisions but also to in terms of performance, i.e. the taxpay-
ers should be able to know that their money is spend econom-
ically, efficiently and effectively (see Power, 1997, p. 43-44 and 
the references therein).

In a more theoretical context, the requirements set by the 
public choice school in public finance, especially by high-
lighting the elements of bureaucracy and constitutions in the 
relevant decision making process, necessitate the interven-
tion of the State in the form of providing services and goods 
through its function, an intervention that has to be efficient 
in allocating public resources, and this efficiency depends on 
the organization and operation of administrative functions in 
an optimal manner, i.e. by providing all necessary services at 
a minimal cost and by assuring that those services respond to 
social demand, as this demand is revealed through the proper 
democratic procedures. Achieving sound financial governance 
allows for more goods and services to be provided without 
substantially increasing taxation and supports the reduction 
of the costs of supplying goods and services. Thus the legal 
functioning of the state’s institutions must be accompanied by 
their efficient functioning. This can be achieved by providing 
for public control institutions that carry out audits and can be 
used as potential sources of information for policy makers as 
well as for the society, in order for them to identify possible 
inefficiencies and demand or undertake the relevant actions 
to improve efficiency (see Crespo, 2005, pp. 4-5). It must be 
noted that control, and particularly management control, is 
a dynamic function, with the following sequence: analysis of 
public management – carrying out of audit – evaluation of 
audit findings – effects on public management – changes in 
management. Obviously, this sequence depends on the com-
petence of the public audit institutions to make recommen-
dations on specific management issues either to the legislative 
or the executive branch of the state’s government. These ap-
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proaches have been expressed in the New Public Management 
concept, which necessitates that in every democratic system 
all of the government’s results, in terms of performance, must 
be justified to the citizens, as they provide the resources for the 
state’s activity, through taxes. The resulting concept of social, 
political and financial responsibility of public authorities re-
inforces and widens the content of public accountability. The 
public audit schemes verify the compliance of public action in 
relation to the relevant legal rules as well as the justification of 
their performance (see Crespo, 2005, pp. 8-10).

A notion of central importance for such audit functions is 
the notion of value for money. It is based on three elements: 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness. Economy means that 
the provision of goods or services, in the light of any given 
policy, at any given time, is required to be made at minimum 
cost. This requirement must be assessed in terms of quantity 
and quality and the required resources are to be calculated in 
money terms. Economy is the simplest to apply since it is pos-
sible to set standards of expenditure by means of budgets and 
it is relatively easy to see if these are met, on the assumption 
that the required quality of services is indeed provided. Effi-
ciency means achieving maximum output from the resourc-
es provided for meeting the requirements and is thus close-
ly related to economy. Efficiency is more difficult to achieve 
because it means ensuring that the objectives aimed at are in 
fact met. The crucial point is that efficiency can be achieved 
without economy and vice versa, thus calling for a specifica-
tion of the precise quantity and quality of services required as 
against intended expenditure and to see that not only is that 
expenditure not exceeded but also that the objectives in terms 
of quantity and quality are also achieved. Effectiveness means 
ensuring that the intended result is fully attained from the 
application of the resources. It relates to the extent to which 
the real aim of the policy makers is achieved, this being the 
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most problematic point: how to establish this aim, or, in other 
words, the particu lar values to be aimed at. Effectiveness may 
be expressed as output in value divided by input in econo mic 
terms, but this is not always calculable as both (input and out-
put) are not always measurable in terms of the same units. This 
is further highlighted by the fact that there is no standard defi-
nition of the values in the activities of government, as some 
analysts limit the scope of value in its monetary (economic) 
aspect while others extend this scope to the wellbeing (non-
econo mic aspect) achieved through the expenses incurred 
for the relevant goods and services, an approach that brings 
forward a subjective approach towards welfare, the attainment 
of which is not always measurable (see Glendinning, 1988, p. 
43-45).

A crucial issue before examining the operational aspects of 
performance audit in the EU is to examine its relevance to a 
similar concept, the concept of evaluation. An evaluation has 
multiple purposes comprising the contribution to the design of 
intervention (including the provision of input for setting poli-
tical priorities), the assistance in allocating efficiently the avai-
lable resources, the improvement of the interventions’ quality 
and the report on the interventions’ achievements. This defini-
tion demonstrates that both evaluation and performance audit 
involve a) the examination of policy design and of implemen-
tation procedures and b) the assessment of an entity’s activity 
with regard to economy, efficiency and effectiveness. Thus they 
require similar knowledge, skills and experience and involve 
similar methods for collecting and analysing data. However 
they differ significantly with regard to their purposes and the 
context within each takes place. Performance audit is superim-
posed on an accountability framework entailing the obligation 
of the auditees (responsible for the management of funds) to 
provide meaningful and reliable information to demonstrate 
and take responsibility for performance in light of agreed ex-
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pectations. Such audits require the auditors’ independence to 
select and determine the manner in which to conduct their 
work and report the relevant results. It is not rare for perfor-
mance audits to include evaluative elements of selected sub-
jects and consider evaluation systems and information with a 
view to assessing their quality and, when they are considered 
to be satisfactory and relevant, use evaluation information as 
audit evidence (see European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 11).

Thus, one understands that the ECA’s performance audits 
do not aim to provide comprehensive evaluations of EU acti-
vities, as such a task falls within the competences of the au-
ditees, i.e. the Commission, Member States’ authorities and 
other managers of EU activities. These audits are used to verify 
the soundness of the EU financial management i.e. whether 
the Union manages its financial resources in an economic, ef-
ficient and effective manner (see Strasser, 1992, p. 279, James, 
1984, p. 475). Their legal definition is provided by Art. 33(1) 
of the current Financial Regulation and it entails the follow-
ing: a) the economic management relates planned input of 
resources to the actual input, determining whether the least 
expensive means of achieving a given target have been used 
or not (examination of alternatives), b) the efficient manage-
ment concerns the relationship between actual input (resourc-
es) and actual output (results achieved), determining whether 
the means adopted were employed in the most appropriate 
manner (examination of performance), and c) the effective 
management refers to comparing actual output with planned 
output, determining whether the purpose has been achieved 
or not (success rate). 

2.2. EU Performance Audit – Seeking Value for Money 

Performance audits seek to provide information that is orient-
ed towards the performance achieved. Thus they concentrate 
on inputs, outputs, results and impacts, the assumption being 
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that, if the performance achieved is satisfactory, there is little 
risk of serious problems being present in the design or imple-
mentation of the activity or control systems. Such an endea-
vour necessitates the existence of suitable criteria to measure 
quantity, quality and cost of inputs, outputs, results and im-
pacts. Where the performance achieved is found to be unsatis-
factory, the activity and control systems are then examined to 
the extent necessary to identify the related causes (see Europe-
an Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 15). 

The audit of control systems is designed to determine 
whether the auditees have designed and implemented ma-
nagement and monitoring systems so as to optimise econo-
my, efficiency and effectiveness within the given constraints. 
The audit work involves analysing, reviewing and testing the 
key components of such systems. The examination is often 
extended to the consistency of the audited measures with the 
policy objectives, and whether the latter have been translated 
into operational plans containing operational objectives, the 
achievement of which is subsequently measured. It also con-
siders whether the systems in place produce relevant, reliable 
and timely information on the development of financial, hu-
man and other resources (inputs), the carrying out of activ-
ities (processes) and the delivery of outputs, which are com-
pared with the operational objectives by way of performance 
indicators. The treatment of any discrepancies through timely 
and appropriate remedial action is examined as well. This ap-
proach involves an examination of the evaluation system and 
information in order to assess their quality and, if considered 
to be satisfactory and relevant to the audit objectives, to use 
evaluation findings, conclusions and recommendations as au-
dit evidence (see European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 16).

The main starting point in organizing a performance audit 
process is to analyse the audited intervention as a set of finan-
cial, organisational and human resources mobilised to achieve, 
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in a given period of time, an objective or set of objectives, with 
the aim of solving or overcoming a problem or difficulty af-
fecting targeted groups. The use of logic models can help the 
audit team to identify and set out the relationship between 
the socio-economic needs to be addressed by the intervention 
and its objectives, inputs, processes, outputs, and outcomes, 
which include results (immediate changes that arise for direct 
addressees at the end of their participation in a public inter-
vention) and impacts (longer-term effects of the intervention). 
Within this approach, the auditor is not supposed to cover a 
simultaneous and comprehensive examination of all aspects of 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness, but rather examine cer-
tain issues related to economy, efficiency or effectiveness, or to 
a combination thereof, based on the significant potential risks 
identified (see European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 17-18).

The element of economy (within a performance audit), 
aiming at the significant reduction of the costs of inputs for a 
given level of outputs or results, focuses on risks such as wast-
ing resources, overpaying for goods or services or gold-plating 
i.e. paying for goods or services of a quality higher than nec-
essary. Thus the auditor has to examine whether the auditee a) 
acquires the appropriate type, quality and amount of resources 
at the minimum cost, b) manages its resources with a view to 
minimising overall outlay and c) designs and implements its 
interventions in ways resulting in lower costs (see European 
Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 18-19).

The element of efficiency (within a performance audit), 
aiming at the increase of the amount or quality of outputs 
or results without increasing the use of resources, focuses on 
risks such as leakages (i.e. used resources that not lead to the 
planned outputs), non-optimal input/output ratios, slow rates 
of the interventions’ implementation, or failure to identify and 
control externalities. Efficiency is closely related to the concept 
of “productivity” and the key question is whether outputs or 
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results have been maximised in terms of quantity, quality and 
timing for the level of resources available. The auditor exami-
nes issues such as the cost-effective production of outputs or 
results and the possibility of avoiding bottlenecks or unneces-
sary overlaps (see European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 20-
21).

The element of effectiveness (within a performance audit), 
aiming at producing the expected outputs, results or impacts, 
focuses on risks such as faulty policy design or management 
failures. The auditor seeks to verify the achievement of opera-
tional objectives (the extent to which the intended outputs 
have been produced through the internal operations of the 
auditee), immediate objectives (the clear and positive nature 
of the results achieved for all participants) and intermediate 
and global objectives (the impact of the intervention on the 
wider social, economic, political, institutional, etc landscape). 
The difficulty with the latter type of objectives is their expres-
sion in such broad terms, not allowing their association with 
measurable indicators and thus impeding the verification of 
their achievement, while the assessment of outputs is easier, 
especially when the objectives are expressed in the so called 
SMART template (specific, measurable, achievable, relevant 
and timely) which provides a clear and suitable reference basis 
for assessing effectiveness (see European Court of Auditors, 
2017b, p. 22-23). 

Performance auditing calls for the so called SMARTEST 
approach in order to lead to high quality outcomes, which en-
tails the auditor ensuring the following (see European Court of 
Auditors, 2017b, p. 24):

•	 Sound judgement is exercised throughout the audit process. 
•	 Methodologies are appropriate and combined to capture 

a range of data. 
•	 Audit question(s) are set which can be concluded against. 
•	 Risks to delivering the audit report are analysed and man-
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aged. 
•	 Tools are employed to help achieve successful delivery of 

the audit. 
•	 Evidence is sufficient, relevant and reliable to support the 

audit findings. 
•	 Significant / substantive conclusions and recommenda-

tions to the final report are considered from the planning 
phase onwards. 

•	 Transparency - a ‘no surprises approach’ - is adopted with 
the auditee. 

The nature of performance auditing calls for the use of intel-
lectual functions such as judgement and interpretation, in all 
the stages: setting the audit objectives (or audit questions – one 
main question analysed in sub-questions, whose contents must 
be both mutually exclusive and collectively exhaustive and the 
replies to which should include yes/no answers subject to fur-
ther development), defining relevant audit criteria, establish-
ing an appropriate quantity and quality of audit evidence, de-
riving audit findings, drawing conclusions and reporting (see 
European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 24) 

The main instrument for the audit’s planning phase is the 
Audit Planning Memorandum, a document that defines the 
contents of the audit, the product to be delivered, the resources 
to be employed, the delivery date, the risks to sound financial 
management (i.e. events or actions that may adversely affect 
the auditee, and which may be inherent i.e factors that make 
sound financial management hard to achieve, no matter how 
well the entity is managed, or refer to control i.e. how well the 
entity manages performance), the audit questions as described 
above, the audit criteria (based on legislation, regulations, pro-
fessional or other standards, etc), and the evidence to be col-
lected (it needs to be sufficient, relevant and reliable). It is a 
sort of contract between the actors involved in the auditing 
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process. Its preparation requires preparatory work which de-
pends on the auditors’ knowledge of the policy field or the or-
ganization to be audited. Updating all relevant knowledge is 
imperative. This allows the understanding of the logic of the 
audited intervention, which, in turn, provides the basis for 
the determination of the human, administrative and financial 
resources to be employed (see European Court of Auditors, 
2017b, pp. 32-47) 

The audit examination phase takes place on the basis of the 
audit planning already undertaken and the planning docu-
ments thereby developed. Its main purpose is to collect the 
evidence deemed necessary for the auditors in order to reach 
conclusions on the audit questions. This process entails an 
analysis of the evidence (“what is”) which is evaluated against 
the pre-determined audit criteria (“what should be”) in or-
der to derive audit findings, focusing on the causality links 
(cause-effect) of the findings. Such audits are more judge-
ment-based, with the result that audit evidence tends to be 
more persuasive (“points towards the conclusion that...”) than 
conclusive (“right/wrong”) in nature. The “transformation” of 
data collected to audit evidence is presented in the following 
graph (see European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 58): 
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The sufficiency of audit evidence relies on its capacity to 
persuade a reasonable person that the audit findings and con-
clusions are valid, and that the recommendations are appro-
priate. Its relevance relies on its clarity and its logical relation 
to the audit questions, the audit criteria and the audit findings. 
Its reliability is acknowledged if the same findings arise from 
repeatedly carried out tests or when the same information is 
obtained from different sources. The criteria for these audit 
evidence qualities are the purpose of their collection, their 
materiality/significance in relation to the audit scope, the in-
dependence of the originating sources, the cost of obtaining 
additional evidence, the risk of reaching incorrect conclusions, 
and the care taken in their collection and analysis. The sourc-
es of audit evidence entail data obtained directly by the audi-
tors, data provided by the auditee and data provided by third 
parties. Such data may be physical (e.g. Notes, photographs, 
charts, maps, drawings, samples, etc), documentary (e.g. other 
reports, policies & procedures, system descriptions, contracts, 
etc), oral (e.g. information from interviews, expert panels, etc) 
and analytical (e.g. ratio analyses, regression analyses, bench-
marking, etc). The evidence is used to determine whether 
any detected deficiencies are isolated instances or results of 
systematic problems, to identify their causes and impacts as 
well as the possibility of the auditee to address them internally 
or to seek external assistance. There might be quantitative or 
qualitative findings, and all are being treated in the appropri-
ate manner. Performance audits focus on providing a balanced 
view of the topic under audit, presenting not only deficiencies 
but also, when appropriate, positive findings and indications 
of good practice. The overall emphasis is to formulate audit 
findings in a constructive and balanced way. The preliminary 
audit findings are communicated to the auditee, in a context of 
constructive interaction, in order for other views and count-
er-arguments to be explored, the accuracy of the facts to be es-
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tablished and any corrective action undertaken to be verified, 
all these being significant elements for the audit’s report (see 
European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 59-69).

The audit reporting phase includes drafting of the final re-
porting document, approval of the preliminary observations 
by the Audit Chamber within the ECA, the adversarial pro-
cedure with the Commission, adoption of the final reporting 
document by the ECA, translation, presentation to the dis-
charge authority and publication. Performance auditing in the 
EU audit system leads to the production of Special Reports by 
the ECA. There are also the so called “Presidential Letters”, i.e. 
notes sent by the ECA’s President to the person in charge of 
an auditee (President, Director, etc) in order to inform their 
recipient about the ECA’s findings during a particular audit. 
Based on the replies of the auditee the ECA will decide wheth-
er it is going to keep the matter on a bilateral level or to issue a 
Special Report on it or even to include it in its Annual Report 
(see Themelis, 1984, p. 122). 

The ECA’s reports, entailing performance auditing results, 
must be objective (i.e. adopting an independent, unbiased, ba-
lanced viewpoint with neutral tone and fair approach), com-
plete (i.e. contain all relevant information), clear (i.e. with easi-
ly identifiable and understandable messages), convincing (i.e. 
with persuasively presented observations, supported by suffi-
cient data and documentation), relevant (i.e. with timely and 
up-to date information – keeping in mind the 13 months time 
limit set in Art 259 of the current Financial Regulation – and 
providing added value and new information on the topic under 
audit), accurate (i.e. with true evidence and correctly portrayed 
findings), constructive (i.e. to provide assistance to the audi-
tee in overcoming or avoiding problems), and concise (i.e. the 
report’s size should not exceed the length necessary to convey 
the audit’s message, avoiding extraneous details and immaterial 
findings) (see European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 73-75) .
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The conclusions of the audit are drawn up near the end of 
the audit work and this outline is the basis for a more detailed 
drafting plan. This plan is based on the audit work underta-
ken with regard to the audit questions answered, the evidence 
obtained, the key conclusions and the need to present mate-
rial observations in the most useful and relevant way to the 
non-expert reader. The report sets out the materials and rele-
vant observations and conclusions, with a clear link between 
the two. This is further enhanced by using cross-references 
of each observation (per auditee) to the corresponding audit 
findings. The structure of the report is as follows: executive 
summary, introduction, audit scope and approach, observa-
tions and conclusions and recommendations. Its contents en-
tail data and information essential to understanding, as well 
as information (not overly detailed) on budgetary expenditure 
(commitments and payments) in relation to the audit’s scope. 
The wording must accessible to the average reader, consistent 
throughout the text, unambiguous and conclusive (with affir-
mative assertions). The Adversarial Procedure, as provided for 
in Art. 259 of the current Financial Regulation, i.e. the meet-
ings between the audited institution and the ECA, aim to re-
solve, firstly, any disagreements over the facts and, secondly, 
any differences of opinion between the ECA and the auditee 
over interpretation of the evidence. This allows the auditee to 
finalise its replies to the ECA’s observations. Finally, the follow 
up of the reports allows the assessment of any measures taken, 
by examining the extent to which the auditee has addressed 
the findings and recommendations contained in the ECA’s 
special reports. The effectiveness of the actions taken by the 
auditee may be examined in a further detailed audit enquiry 
(see European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 76-88). 
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2.3. The EU experience of performance audits

ECA’s performance audits have been very useful as well as in-
formative with regard to the EU’s financial management. The 
most common problems identified as causes for poor value for 
money in the EU are the following (see European Court of Au-
ditors, 2014b, p. 23-24):
•	 the purpose of the funding is not clear, or there is no pre-

liminary (ex ante) evaluation, or assessment of the actual 
funding needs

•	 there are too many objectives, or unclear objectives that 
can be interpreted in different ways, making it difficult to 
establish priorities

•	 the needs of potential beneficiaries are not adequately as-
sessed, or the possible impact of EU funding is not pro-
perly considered 

•	 aid is not targeted at beneficiaries, areas and projects 
most in need, or the selection criteria for individual pro-
jects are insufficient 

•	 eligibility criteria are unclear or inconsistently applied by 
the bodies approving EU support (grants, loans, etc)

•	 EU funds bring some benefits to the beneficiaries, but 
there is no special EU dimension to the actions over and 
above what is already funded by the Member States at 
national, regional and local levels 

•	 there is no assessment of the reasonability of costs 
charged to EU actions 

•	 EU funds are used to purchase goods and services of un-
necessary high quality 

•	 purchasing rules are not followed in the procurement of 
goods and services 

•	 it takes too long to carry out the actions 
•	 the EU budget may be used to fund actions and projects 

which are not selfsustaining or maintained once the EU 
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funds are no longer available 
•	 there is a lack of information about what was actually 

achieved and the benefits it brings

The ECA has prepared a very indicative diagram in that re-
spect (see following page).

The necessity of audit reporting on performance has been con-
firmed by the ECA as reliable financial information must be 
matched by reliable nonfinancial information, and the EU’s 
focus on compliance should be matched with a focus on re-
sults. The ECA’s findings in various performance audits entail 
inadequate monitoring and evaluation arrangements and the 
need to improve the relevance, reliability and timeliness of 
performance data provided by management systems. The lack 
of clear and measurable objectives in EU funded programmes 
is not negligible and it causes severe difficulties for the auditors 
to determine the soundness of EU financial management, thus 
reducing the accountability element for the managers (at EU 
and national level) of the relevant funds. Therefore, three main 
challenges have been identified in EU performance auditing: 
a) adopting consistent performance indicators and obtaining 
reliable information, b) setting up systems that produce accu-
rate information on results, and c) improving the Commission 
evaluation report in terms of the results achieved, an issue 
which the ECA has highlighted as it considered the first such 
reports of the Commission as vague, short on substance and 
with limited EU added value (see European Court of Auditors, 
2014a, p. 51-52).

Achieving EU added value through the programmes fund-
ed by the EU budget is of significant importance in the ECA’s 
performance audit approach. According to this approach, ex-
penditure programmes which do not add European value are 
by definition unlikely to be an effective and efficient use of the 
EU taxpayer’s money. The principles put forward by the ECA 
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in order to further articulate this concept in the framework of 
its audits are the following (see Caldeira, 2008, p. 21):

•	 Expenditure from the EU budget within the Union must 
offer clear and visible benefits for the Union and its cit-
izens which could not be achieved by spending only at 
national, regional or local level, but could rather, by rea-
son of the scale or effects of the proposed action, be bet-
ter achieved at Union level

•	 Expenditure with trans-frontier effects or common in-
terest is prima facie a stronger candidate for EU finan-
cial support than expenditure with limited geographical 
effects

•	 Reasonable concentration of expenditure is prima facie 
likely to support the objective of adding value

•	 For expenditure outside the Union, such as on deve-
lopment assistance, value added is also likely to be en-
hanced by a selective approach, using selection criteria 
such as the existence of global donor endorsement for 
areas in need of assistance, or the existence of EU exper-
tise in the supported activities. 

In the ECA’s point of view, such principles could be embo died 
in a suitable political declaration or even in EU legislation, and 
provide criteria for the guidance of the Union’s political au-
thorities, like the principles of subsidiarity and proportionality.

There are various examples of the performance audits’ use-
fulness in improving EU financial management, in various EU 
policy fields.

With regard to the revenue of the EU budget it has been 
found that there is considerable scope for simplifying the rele-
vant arrangements and making them more transparent. The 
existing system of the EU’s own resources has been found to be 
excessively complex, not very transparent, incomprehensible 
for EU citizens, and not fully auditable. For instance:
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•	 The VAT-based resource resembles national contribu-
tions based on statistical data and estimates in addition 
to VAT actually received. Their calculation is complex 
and is the result of a number of detailed adjustments. 
There is no direct, clear relationship between VAT paid 
by the taxpayer and the “VAT-based” resource.

•	 The GNI-based own resource is based on macro-eco-
nomic statistics for which harmonization could still be 
improved.

•	 The various correction mechanisms linked to the cor-
rection of budgetary imbalances introduce great com-
plexity into the VAT and GNI call-up rate.

•	 The underlying data can be audited directly only in the 
case of traditional own resources (customs duties, agri-
cultural duties and sugar levies).

The overall design of the EU revenue system is a matter of po-
litical decision by the EU political authorities. The ECA has 
called repeatedly for such decisions (see Caldeira, 2008, p. 25).

With regard to the EU expenditure, one of the policy ar-
eas audited on several occasions is the EU Cohesion policy, 
especially after the administrative reform and the manage rial 
reorganisation of the Commission’s financial management 
system and structures realised during the 2000-2006 program-
ming period, in the aftermath of the 1999 events. The major 
rise in audit resources focusing on this policy field has been 
identified as an “audit explosion”, with stricter enforcement of 
rules, increased supervision, and more audits of programmes 
at EU and national level. These changes focused mainly on im-
proving the compliance audit mechanisms of verifying legality 
and regularity of expenditure and emphasis was placed on the 
sanctioning tool of financial corrections and recoveries. Pri-
ority was given to obtaining assurance of compliance and fa-
cilitating the discharge procedure. Especially in a field such as 
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EU Cohesion policy, which is implemented under the shared 
management scheme, compliance has been deemed more im-
portant than performance given the high degree of delegation 
risk caused by the devolved and dispersed delivery model of 
this field. The perception of performance has been seen as a 
secondary priority despite the formal declaration of the EU 
adopting a New Public Management approach (for a detailed 
analysis of this issue see Mendez & Bachtler, 2011).

Nevertheless, the ECA has sought to examine the soundness 
of the EU’s financial management in the field of EU Cohesion 
policy. One of its remarks has been that during the last ten years 
(2010-2020) there has been a significant increase of provisions 
in the EU secondary legislation regarding the introduction of 
elements which refer to key features on the establishment of an 
effective system of performance management including defi-
nitions of performance and sound financial management, the 
use of robust objectives and indicators, and structured eval-
uation of what has been achieved. Thus, while initially there 
were general references to sound financial management and 
its economy element, in the 1990s the cost-effectiveness aspect 
and the requirement for quantified objectives were introduced, 
and afterwards, in 2002 the SMART scheme for objectives-set-
ting and the full-scale concept of sound financial management 
with its three elements (economy, efficiency effectiveness) were 
established. In 2010, the results-driven budgeting process was 
introduced, followed, in 2011, by the formal definition and use 
of the concept of EU added value, while in 2015 reforms were 
introduced aiming at improving the EU regulatory and bud-
getary governance by orienting them towards achieving better 
results. Finally, in 2018, the current Financial Regulation es-
tablished requirements concerning the focus on performance 
through the setting up of ex ante objectives and the monito-
ring of their attainment by using performance indicators (both 
“output” and “result” indicators), and by examining the EU 



Performance Audit in the EU Budgetary Governance 55

added value of the relevant programmes (see European Court 
of Auditors, 2019b, pp. 12-13).

In terms of substance, the ECA has developed a set of 14 
guiding principles focusing on making Cohesion policy per-
formance-oriented. These principles reflect the main issues 
identified in the ECA’s performance audit work in this policy 
field, by relating to the full cycle of managing the policy, from 
planning at the outset to evaluation on completion. The ECA 
has elaborated on the relevance of these principles to each of 
the five management stages of Cohesion policy. It has been 
found out that since 1988 (the landmark year in EU Cohesion 
policy development) there has been a steadily increased rele-
vance between the management stages of Cohesion policy and  
the ECA’s principles (see the following tables). 
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Manage-
ment Stage 
of Cohesion 

policy

ECA Guiding Principles

Strategic 
Planning

GP1: The EU has articulated a clear and consistent of 
what it wants to achieve with Cohesion policy funds, 
which needs to be owned and operationalised  
GP2: The allocation of funding to Member States takes 
account of identified needs and is informed by perfor-
mance information

Program-
ming

GP3: A clear intervention logic exists 
GP4: Funding is well targeted
GP5: A simple and consistent performance measure-
ment framework is in place 
GP6: Mechanisms to incentivise performance are in 
place  

Implemen-
tation

GP7: Member States spend their Cohesion policy 
funds in a timely way
GP8: The is a performance-oriented approach when 
selecting and implementing projects 
GP9: Revisions of programmes are informed by per-
formance considerations including results

Monitoring 
and Report-

ing

GP10: Monitoring systems ensure timely performance 
data of good quality 
GP11: There is clear accountability for performance
GP12: Performance information is used to take reme-
dial action and support the strategic planning process

Evaluation GP13: Evaluations at programme and policy level are 
used for decision making

Cross Cutting GP14: Sustainability is built into the cycle to ensure 
the longer-term effectiveness of public interventions

Source: European Court of Auditors, 2019b, p. 11
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It must be noted that performance audits have been often 
criticized, throughout the EU, for not leading to action. Such 
criticisms were also voiced, as noted above, with regard to the 
performance audits conducted by the ECA. In that respect, 
the real challenge facing all audit institutions, including the 
ECA, is the potential lack of implementation of their recom-
mendations. In order to meet this challenge, they must study 
and understand the socio-cultural contexts of organizations 
with their cognitive, normative, and regulative elements, that 
shape the organisational landscape and behavior in which they 
operate. There are various configurations of performance au-
dit, adjusted to these contexts and reflecting them. The New 
Public Management concept promoted a performance logic, 
or managerial logic that became embedded with other, already 
existing logics, rooted in geographical and cultural differences 
and broader belief systems. It has been noted that performance 
audit was more fruitfully adopted by countries with a com-
mon law tradition than by those with a strong administrative 
tradition. This demonstrates that the necessary, but not suf-
ficient, condition for performance audits to generate impact 
is the relevant legal framework. The absence of legal require-
ments shows a lack of political will that leads to shortages of 
resources with which to carry out performance audits. This 
necessitates the implementation of the recommendations of 
such audits. Otherwise, performance audits become a source 
of waste and the resources employed could be better used for 
other purposes (for a detailed analysis see Torres, Yetano & 
Pina, 2016). 
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Compliance or Performance? 
An audit dilemma

3.1. The co-existence of audit systems 

The “competition” between financial/compliance audit and 
performance reflects a steady development of responses 
provided by public authorities in order to meet accounting 
needs, especially in the public sector, as this sector’s account-
ing scope has been constantly expanded in order to include 
as much levels and forms of government as possible e.g. cen-
tral go vern    ment, local government, state government, fede-
ral government, etc., depending always on a country’s model 
of organizational and constitutional structure as a federal or 
a unitary state. The starting point has been the financial ac-
counting and audit scheme, whose basic objective is to provide 
fina ncial reports furnishing relevant economic information to 
decision makers who require financial statements with reliable 
information on economic resources and obligations (balance 
sheet), profitability (income statement), and other relevant 
data (e.g., statement of cash flows, contingent liabilities, and 
accounting policies). Furthermore, the compliance element 
has been introduced, requiring the auditors to express opi-
nions on the conformity of the financial statements with stan-
dards set by the appropriate authorities. Last, but not least, the 
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use of private sector standards focusing on management and 
the audited entity’s performance with regard to the impact of 
its decision on its income has been accepted as a valid option. 
These developments have caused the simultaneous conformity 
with at least two types of accounting and auditing rules, lead-
ing to the adoption of “negative standards” i.e. the formal dec-
laration of non applicability of a category of rules in case of 
conforming with another one (see Reinstein & Lander, 1997). 

The institutional consequences of these developments have 
been materialized in the form of the establishment of various 
types of public audit institutions, each one reflecting diffe-
rent cultures in political, social, economic and legal processes. 
Within this variety two broad traditions may be distinguished. 
The first is a common law tradition, in countries of the Bri-
tish Commonwealth, the USA, and some Scandinavian coun-
tries, where the main emphasis is upon the audit institution’s 
responsibility to report its findings to the legislature who will 
then decide what recommendations to make to the govern-
ment. But the audit institution in this tradition has no legal 
powers to punish the offences identified in its report and in 
some cases it does not even have the authority to acknowledge 
them as such. The second tradition is the so called Roman law 
tradition, according to which public sector audit is conduct-
ed by a court, which can hold hearings, and whose decisions 
and punishments have legal force, as for instance the Cour des 
Comptes of France, the Corte de Conti in Italy, the Tribunal de 
Cuentas in Spain, the Court of Audit in Greece etc (see Bourn, 
2007, p. 4). 

These two broad traditions may be further divided into 
groups, taking into account two dimensions: the degree of 
professional autonomy enjoyed by the audit institution and 
the degree of external influence exercised over it. Such con-
siderations demonstrate that the optimal situation is an audit 
institution with a high degree of professional autonomy and 
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a low degree of influence from outside, highlighting overall 
independence as the ultimate quality in the audit function. 
Usually independence from the Executive is the main cause of 
concern, by also a degree of independence from the Legisla-
ture is also important, in order to allow the audit institution to 
develop its own identity, or even to prevent its indirect control 
from the Executive through the political parties’ machinery in 
the Parliament (see Heald, 2018, p. 319-320). Thus, more types 
of audit institutions are identified, the grid of their resulting 
relationships being formed as follows: 

Source: Heald, 2018, p. 320

The “Legal” cell (Low:Low) entails the characteristics from 
judicial or quasi-judicial audit institutions, which are thus 
protected from external influence but their reasoning is mar-
ginalized from economization and their discourse is shaped in 
terms of legal duties and rights. The “Hierarchical” (Low:High) 
cell includes public audit institutions which are construed as 
government departments, sometimes within the civil service, 
thus not being arbiters providing assurance about a princi-
pal–agent relationship but rather being viewed as enforcer on 
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behalf of the principal (government), and this, by definition, 
affects their objectivity. The “Professional” (High:Low) cell re-
fers to public audit institutions that report to the Legislature 
rather than the Executive, and whose functions are not seen 
as administrative or legal, an arrangement that provides the 
advantage of protecting the audit institution against an “ag-
gressive” auditee, such as the Ministry of Finance, but, at the 
same time, creates forms of dependency upon persons holding 
the key positions, as there are risks regarding professional in-
dependence and integrity (vital for the audit institution’s au-
tonomy) as well as external influence (vital for relevance and 
perhaps institutional survival). The “Political” (High:High) 
cell reflects regimes with strong arrangements regarding the 
separation of powers, thus leading to significant depoliticiza-
tion of the public audit institution, allowing it to be an actor of 
its own in the democratic political system (see Heald, 2018, p. 
330 and the references therein).

In any case, these types of public audit institutions reflect 
the culture or beliefs established at national, supranational and 
international level with regard to the public audit’s position in 
the political, constitutional, and institutional environment of 
a democratic regime. In all versions, however, the public audit 
enhances the element of transparency.  

It is obvious that the public audit scheme encompasses all 
types of control and audit operations, such as ex ante controls 
before public money is disbursed, providing assurance about 
regularity and legality, providing certification of government 
accounts, undertaking assessments of value for money, and 
improving public financial managerial performance (this lat-
ter element has influenced reforms leading to the focus being 
shifted to ex post public audits, as the ex ante controls increas-
ingly acquire an internal nature, being relinquished to the au-
ditee’s administrative authorities). 

The schematic representation of this model entails a cycle 



Compliance or Performance? An audit dilemma 75

with all the main elements of the relevant system, and the pub-
lic audit operating as a catalyst of the system’s transparent op-
eration, as follows.

Source: Heald, 2018, p. 321

Such theoretical considerations and institutional arrange-
ments have been adopted, perhaps due to institutional iso-
morphism, within the EU’s public audit system. This system 
is predominately characterized by the co-existence of financial 
and compliance audit with performance audit, as it has been 
described in the previous chapters.

This co-existence, nevertheless, has not eliminated the dif-
ferences between these types of audits. On the contrary, it has 
brought them to the foreground, as a means of defining the 
limits of the audit function within the EU budgetary gover-
nance. These differences refer to specific aspects of the audit 
process as follows: 
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ASPECTS Performance audit Financial and Com-
pliance audit

Purpose
Assess whether EU 

funds have been used 
with economy, effi-

ciency, effectiveness.

Assess whether 
financial operations 

have been legally and 
regularly executed 
and accounts are 

reliable.

Focus
Policy, programme, 
organisation, activi-

ties and management 
systems.

Financial transac-
tions, accounting 
and key control 

procedures.

Academic basis
Economics, political 

science, sociology 
etc.

Accountancy and law

Methods Vary from audit to 
audit. Standardised format

Audit criteria
More open to the 

auditors’ judgement. 
Unique criteria for 

the individual audit.

Less open to the 
auditors’ judgement. 
Standardised criteria 
set by legislation and 

regulation for all 
audits.

Reports

Special report 
published on an ad 
hoc basis. Varying 
structure and con-
tent, depending on 

objectives.

A macro view on 
performance of the 

EU budget is includ-
ed in a dedicated 

chapter of the Annu-
al Report.

Annual report in a 
more or less stan-
dardized template.

Source: European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 10

When deciding on the type of audit to use in the EU, one should 
remember that EU policies are realised partly by budgetary in-
struments and partly by legal and regulatory instruments. The 



Compliance or Performance? An audit dilemma 77

budgetary instruments entail primarily the funding provided 
by the EU budget for the implementation of the Union’s poli-
cies, while a number of these policies are also financed from 
national budgets, and to a lesser extent from other sources of 
funding (such as leverage of private finance). The legal and 
regulatory instruments encompass the numerous legislative 
instruments enacted by the EU every year, which set rules or 
standards in policy areas such as the single market, environ-
mental protection, social policies and competition (see Euro-
pean Court of Auditors, 2014a, p. 50). 

Consequently the contents of the audit process have to be 
arranged accordingly and it is, therefore, obvious that certain 
elements of financial and compliance audit aspects can also be 
included in a performance audit, when they refer to wi der hor-
izontal issues, e.g. environmental considerations in the context 
of sustainable development. An audit combining these aspects 
is called a “comprehensive audit”. Adopting such an audit ap-
proach is a matter of professional judgement and is a decision 
to be taken on a case-by-case basis. It must be noted that out 
a comprehensive audit is a very demanding task. Therefore, 
it should be considered with great care and undertaken only 
in cases where it is clear that it will be possible to obtain suf-
ficient, relevant and reliable audit evidence and deliver clear, 
useful and timely messages at the reporting stage to satisfy per-
formance, compliance and/or financial audit objectives. The 
various elements must be clea rly distinguished in the Audit 
Planning Memorandum and the Audit Programme, so that the 
audit team is clear about and gives due consideration to the dif-
fering audit objectives within the audit task. These clarifications 
will help also labeling the audit (the classification of the audit 
engagement), as such overlaps between other types of audit and 
performance auditing may be resolved by determining the pri-
mary purpose of the audit in question (see European Court of 
Auditors, 2017b, p. 10). 
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This approach is also seen in the relevant reforms under-
taken by several countries in the EU, the common objective 
being to extend the scope of public audit institutions’ func-
tions and to grant them statutory authority to carry out per-
formance or value for money audits, even if that required a in-
stitutional overhauling of the public function, like for instance 
in the case of the United Kingdom, where the audit institution 
was formally placed within the purview of the Parliament and 
was granted the authority to carry out examinations of the 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness of public financial man-
agement, thus eliminating the oddity of this institution audi-
ting the Treasury while being audited, at the same time, by the 
Treasury, a situation exemplifying the concept of conflict of 
interests (see Bourn, 2007, pp. 4-5). 

The impact of performance audits varies according to the 
broader institutional and administrative culture of the state: 
In the so called “Anglo-American” model, the impact of per-
formance audits is mainly due to the implementation of re-
commendations by the entities audited. The change process 
initiated by the recommendations finishes with the follow-up 
audits. There are countries, especially in Europe, which have 
adopted a similar approach, but moving away from their tra-
ditional administrative culture has not been found to be easy, 
leading to delayed audit reports and the employment of private 
auditors for some audits. In general, in the so called “Continen-
tal-European” model, the effect of performance audits comes 
primarily from the reforms promoted by the Parliament, thus 
leading to low levels of follow-up audits but increased parlia-
mentary debates between the auditees, the auditors, and the 
relevant political authorities about the results of the audits and 
the reforms undertaken. The legal background of the audit in-
stitutions’ staff necessitates the use of external experts on per-
formance audits. This is particularly obvious in countries with 
judicial bodies as public audit institutions, in which the audit 



Compliance or Performance? An audit dilemma 79

recommendations should be directly implemented by the enti-
ties audited, and thus performance auditing seems testimonial 
(see Torres, Yetano & Pina, 2016, pp. 22-23)

3.2.  The audit’s output: judgement, decision 
or political statement?

One of the most notable aspects regard the function of public 
audit, at all levels (including the EU), is that it relies on human 
activity. The auditors are called to find evidence, to study them 
and to reach conclusions regarding the objectives of their mis-
sion. In order to understand the nature of their conclusions 
one has to define two concepts which are quite relevant to au-
dit or to each other in the audit context: the concept of judge-
ment and the concept of decision. 

In general, a judgement is defined as the set of evaluative 
and inferential processes, entailing personal assessment or 
other evaluations, that people have at their disposal and can 
draw on in the process of making decisions (see Koehler & 
Harvey, 2004, p. xv, Brown, 2005, p. 239). A decision is the 
broader process within which a choice among specific options 
is made, determining what action is to be taken, based on risk 
assessment and choice, under social, emotional and cultural 
influences (see Brown, 2005, p. 1 and 237, Koehler & Harvey, 
2004, p. xv). Both these processes are employed in the main ac-
tivities of auditing, i.e. the compilation of data, the appraisal of 
data against specific criteria and the production of financial or 
non-financial reports (depending on the type of audit) which 
are used as source of information for all interested parties. De-
spite this co-existence, judgement formulation has been dis-
tinguished clearly from decision making (see Kotchetova & 
Salterio, 2004 p. 556). For example, when focused on a specific 
financial-statement assertion and account balance the auditor 
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must judge the significance of the balance and assertion, the 
level of misstatement risks, how to best produce evidence to 
confirm or disconfirm this assertion, how much such evidence 
should be produced, and when, during the course of the audit, 
it should be produced. Subsequently, the auditor must evaluate 
the resulting evidence and form a judgement about its mean-
ing. In concert with similar judgements for other accounts and 
assertions, the auditor then must integrate these findings and 
decide what to communicate to the financial-statement us-
ers, i.e. choose the audit report to be issued (see Solomon & 
Shields, 1995, p.139).

An interesting characteristic of the judgements and deci-
sions in auditing processes is the employment of mental ac-
counting (for this concept see Sunstein, 2002, p. 231-232), i.e. 
the use of frames that result in mental accounts through which 
losses and gains (including those in simple monetary terms), 
are not fungible with each other. Decisions are thus organized 
in terms of separate budgets and accounts, and these accounts 
are often segmented. This is a means of financial control and 
the auditors are bound by the scope and the mission of their 
activities to use such schemes in their thinking, providing a 
paternalistic model of approach. The audit function prevents 
managers from making choices as they wish and the use of 
separate mental accounts serves as the limitation tool. Such 
tools may prove to be quite effective as they will provide the 
bases for audit findings regarding the revenue and expenditure 
of the auditee, by explaining the mentalities behind the bud-
getary behaviour (collection of revenue and payment of expen-
diture) of the auditee’s managers and identifying patterns of 
behaviour that might need to be amended, thus necessitating 
also organizational, procedural and operational amendments. 
All in all, the practice of mental accounting on behalf of the 
auditor allows for the auditees to develop creative policyma-
king in order to adapt to the audit’s recommendations. 
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The importance of the public audits’ outputs is highlighted 
when considering the position of public audit in the overall 
System of Public Financial Management & Accountability. 
Such a System is provided for within the framework of each 
public entity at subnational, national, supranational and inter-
national level. The EU, of course, is no exception to that rule. 
The System contains several components which are all inter-
connected in such a way that the good performance of one 
affects the others. The interconnection of the components and 
the functional logic of the System are based on the accounta-
bility relationships between the various actors such as the 
executive and the legislature. The System serves its purposes 
by providing, through its components, the systemic tools for 
an overview of the budgetary governance landscape, starting 
from the perspective of focusing on regularity of cash in-flows 
and out-flows (compliance) and extending the scope of audit 
to a broader set of parameters that incorporate several inputs 
from a economic development perspective such as cash and 
other assets–financial and physical, as well as human resourc-
es and the relevant outputs, outturns and development out-
comes. Thus the issue of good or sound budgetary governance 
is raised and addressed, through controlling the use of public 
resources, for which the provision of information – financial 
and non-financial is of vital importance, as it will demonstrate 
whether the budgetary governance is value based (see Sahgal, 
2007, p. 57). The entire System of Public Financial Manage-
ment & Accountability can be seen as follows:
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Source: Sahgal, 2007, p. 55

The position of audit in the System, both as internal and ex-
ternal audit, provides the basis of the System’s effective ope-
ration. In the EU context the dual scope of audit (financial/
compliance audit and performance audit) has lead to the pro-
duction of audit outputs, in the forms of judgements or deci-
sions which have contributed significantly to the quality of the 
Union’s budgetary governance. 

With regard to financial and compliance audits, the main 
concern is for the audit institution to provide assurance on 
the reliability of the accounts and the legality and regularity 
of the transactions. This will be provided as an opinion to the 
recipients of the audit report, which in turn, will be based in 
judgements resulting to a decision. The credibility of the audi-
ted issue is based on the credibility of the audit itself. In or-
der to provide such credibility the audit institution must also 
provide assurance, and not just by default, that it is in a posi-
tion to conduct audits with regard to its organizational and 
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operational aspects. Observing or measuring audit assurance 
is not an easy task. There are various elements, both quantita-
tive or qualitative, that may affect the cost-assurance relation 
between the costs of audit itself (e.g. audit resources employed 
such staff or time, quality and quantity of the data under audit, 
etc) and the quality of the reasoning forming the basis of the 
relevant judgement that would lead to the relevant decision 
of the audit institution with regard to the issue under audit. 
No definitive solution may be provided over the template of 
the “perfect audit”, but its characteristics may be sought among 
those that have been proved successful when they conform to 
organizational options and operational procedures which have 
stood the test of time (see Power, 1997, p. 28-31). 

Further to the substantive aspect of this issue, there have 
been considerations from a legal point of view, in the EU con-
text, regarding the operation of the ECA, and the credibility of 
the auditing process. The Court of Justice of the EU has ruled 
that there are two separate levels of examining the legality of 
transactions in the context of the EU budget. Its own (judicial) 
authority refers to the review of the legality of the EU second-
ary legislation which is the substantive basis of all such trans-
actions, while the ECA’s authority is to examine the legality 
of expenditure with reference to the budget and the relevant 
legislative basis i.e. the relevant EU secondary legislation (see 
C-294/83, Parti ecologiste “Les Verts” v European Parliament, 
[1986] ECR, p. 1339–1373, at p. 1367). The ECA, during its 
audit operations has to apply the EU primary and secondary 
legislation regarding the financial management of the Union, 
including the so called “budgetary rules” provided for in Art. 
310 TFEU and the current Financial Regulation, as well as the 
established auditing standards and practices (see Orsoni, 1991, 
p. 81-83). Thus, the financial and compliance audits have to 
meet certain standards, set also by law, in order to be conside-
red as adequate and credible in the context of the ECA’s rele-
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vant activities. 
Similar issues regarding the credibility and the appropriate 

nature of the auditing process and the relevant judgements and 
decisions, have been identified also with regard to the perfor-
mance audits. It has been noted that the contents of the audits 
in general are quite popular with the Media as they provide 
materials that can be presented to the wider public in the effort 
to inform the public opinion on the use of the public resources 
(see Skiadas, 2020, p. 42-44). In the case of performance au-
dits, however, their popularity with the Media is of particular 
interest, due to the relevant reports’ contents, which are not 
of only technical and economical nature but they provide also 
more general – and thus more accessible and comprehensible 
for the non expert audience – overviews of the audited issues. 
The Media have been trying to establish an active relationship 
with the public audit institutions, but these efforts have not 
been always successful for reasons that involve the public au-
thorities (auditees), the audit institutions as well as the Media 
themselves. Such reasons include a well established tradition of 
secrecy regarding public financial management (usually in the 
effort of the public authorities to declare their “feuds of power” 
and to “save face” by avoiding embarrassing revelations), the 
old (and sometimes obsolete) legislative frameworks on public 
audit which reflect outdated points of view (e.g. the audit is 
to serve the authorities in charge), the various phenomena of 
corruption caused by the lack of proper accountability mech-
anisms, the absence of bureaucratic performance orientation 
which makes public authorities (not the political officials) very 
reluctant of divulging information about their successes of fai-
lures in general, and the “criminalization” of politics, i.e. the 
use of audit produced information for political purposes and 
gains such as creating impressions and putting forward accusa-
tions against politicians, the validity of which is not completely 
established but is enough to dissuade the electorate from elect-
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ing the persons concerned (see Anam, 2007, pp. 102-105).
If one considers carefully these reasons, one interesting 

point arises: it is the content of the performance audits them-
selves which cause or at least contribute to the creation of such 
situations. Their non-economic nature is converted to politi-
cal, in the eyes of those seeking to learn how their money is 
collected or spent without, however, knowing the mentality 
of compiling a performance audit report. And this is perhaps 
one of the gravest dangers for public audit, especially for insti-
tutions such as the ECA that operates in a heavily politicized 
environment. 

More specifically, it could be argued that, at least in theory, 
enhancing the audit function with non-economic elements, 
thus providing it with an evaluative role could contribute to 
the political system’s improvement, increasing its stability and 
its effectiveness. However, such an approach would overlook 
the paradoxes noted in the actual political and institutional 
environment, the main one being that the rationalization of 
the budgetary governance through, inter allia, the extension of 
the public audit scope, would threaten the internal coherence 
of the political system, as several of its weaknesses would be 
revealed, and this would actually contribute to the entire sys-
tem’s destabilization (see Gray, Jenkings & Segsworth, 1993, p. 
9). Thus, performance audits do not include the evaluation of 
the purpose selected which is a question of political choice (see 
Orsoni, 1991, p. 83). This applies to the ECA’s performance au-
dits, during the conduct of which the ECA is not entitled to 
question policy decisions but only to investigate the financial 
and other consequences of such decisions and their imple-
mentation (see O’ Keeffe, 1994, p. 188). This deprives the ECA 
of any legal authority to decide or even to express an opinion 
on whether the Union should introduce a particular kind of 
policy and limits its competence only to the production of a 
report as to whether that chosen line of policy is being con-
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ducted in a cost effective way (see Swann, 1995, p. 65). In order 
to achieve such as a delimitation of the audit’s scope, the ECA 
has to resort to the use of the so called “effectiveness auditing” 
i.e. auditing that focuses on the extent of goal achievement, the 
effects and/or effectiveness of the policy as well as the efficien-
cy of its implementation. Such an approach allows the ECA 
to a) refrain from evaluating policy goals and b) distinguish 
between goal achievement and effectiveness, as not every goal 
achievement can be the result of the implemented policy un-
der audit (see Leeuw, 1993-1994, p. 17). 

An imperative condition for the ECA to conduct (by em-
ploying its judgement and reaching its decisions) its perfor-
mance audits properly in the above mentioned context of ef-
fectiveness auditing, is that the political authorities have set 
clearly the objectives of their selected policy (see Lelong, 1983, 
p. 105). This is done by accompanying all appropriations in the 
budget with a commentary in which there is an analysis of the 
legal basis of the respective expenditure, as well as a statement 
of political aims or a reference to an act of political context, 
like a resolution (see Dashwood, 1996, p. 126). 

More specifically, the audit of financial management, in 
practice the analysis of the relevant systems, consists primarily 
of assessing the results or efficiency of the activities. Among 
the criteria for the assessment of these results, an essential ele-
ment is the reference to the general goals set by the political 
authority and to the specific targets imposed on the organi-
zation by a higher authority or set by the organization itself. 
In so far as these goals and targets are clearly defined, the as-
sessment of results will consist essentially of assessing how far 
the results were in accordance with the goals and achieved 
the targets. The assessment of results or efficiency pinpoints 
a number of shortcomings or weaknesses (results contrary to 
the goals and targets, results falling short of the targets). This 
method is a modernized form of the classical ‘cost/benefit’ or 
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‘cost-effectiveness’ analyses. Whereas, however, these analyses 
apply, case by case, to the specific elements of management 
activity, the ECA, when assessing a financial management, 
must satisfy itself not only that, in the cases examined, the 
relationships between inputs and outputs are the best possi-
ble, but also, and above all, that the management systems and 
procedures, whether defined by legal provisions or worked out 
by the managing bodies themselves, are constantly aimed at 
achieving soundness of financial management and do attain 
them at each stage of implementation of a policy, measure, 
programme or plan (Strasser, 1992, p. 279).

If such an arrangement is not achieved, the audit of econo-
my and efficiency cannot draw the necessary attention to mis-
use of resources, while effectiveness in achieving policy aims 
cannot be judged (see James, 1984, p. 476). The less precise is 
the auditee in defining its objectives, the more difficult it is for 
the auditor to distinguish between questioning the merits of 
policy objectives (which falls beyond the limits of audit) and 
assessing whether value for money has been achieved in the 
pursuit of those objectives (see Harden, White & Donnelly, 
1995, p. 615). This is a very “delicate” issue as the ECA’s man-
date refers only to the financial management of the Union’s re-
sources and even the hint of the ECA “overstepping the mark” 
by indirectly dictating policy decisions, based on its findings, 
would lead to a political positioning of the ECA, thus threat-
ening its credibility as an independent auditing body (see Skia-
das, 2000, p. 24).

An interesting variation of this issue refers to the audit of 
medium to long-term budgetary programming. More specifi-
cally, it has become practically common ground for all states to 
prepare medium to long term budgetary frameworks in which 
various categories of revenue and spending are provided for. 
Such an approach, known as “packaging”, is used in order to 
provide an idea of future estimates and ceilings of revenue 
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and expenditure but, at the same time, it allows for a common 
treatment of all calls at the public purse, shifting the focus to 
the demand of spending increases rather than cuts. And this 
is made on the basis of the quantity of resources available, not 
the qualities of the policies to be funded, attributing more sig-
nificance to the question “how much is spent?” than to the 
question “what is it spent on?” and allowing greater discretion 
in spending (see Wildavsky, 2002, p. 256-258). Thus the com-
prehensiveness of the budgetary documentation is reduced. 
This has been further justified by the conclusion reached by 
some that it is much more effective to control expenditure, in 
a complex budgetary governance system, by affecting the de-
mands of public resources at their source than by setting up 
and applying a strict, extensive financial control system, lead-
ing to sanctions (see Wildavsky, 2002, p. 352). The EU has for-
mally adopted this approach by establishing in Art.312 TFEU 
the Multiannual Financial Framework as a mechanism of en-
suring that EU expenditure develops in an orderly manner and 
within the limits of the EU own resources. The ECA has taken 
advantage of the general clause regarding the scope of its audit 
mandate, as provided for in Art. 287(4) TFEU (“[…] The Court 
of Auditors may also, at any time, submit observations, partic­
ularly in the form of special reports, on specific questions and 
deliver opinions at the request of one of the other institutions of 
the Union”), and has provided remarks and observations (ini-
tially to the Council of the EU and the European Parliament, 
as EU “co-legislators” comprising the budgetary authority) 
on the European Commission’s proposal for the Multiannu-
al Financial Framework of the period 2021-2027. The ECA’s 
comments referred to four specific aspects: a) the process of 
setting spending priorities based on strategic considerations, 
b) the flexibility of the EU budget and the proposed allocation 
of funding, c) the simplification and performance orientation 
in spending programmes and d) the accountability arrange-
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ments, while at the same time the ECA stated that it is not 
its role to assess the proposed political priorities or allocation 
of funding in the new MFF (see European Court of Auditors, 
2019c, p. 6). 

In a more general context, it has been noted, however, that 
such policy audits, i.e. examinations of whether political pro-
grammes are appropriate from a financial perspective, could 
be performed by the public audit institutions. Large-scale pol-
icy programmes (such as foreign policy) or projects (such as 
an event of global reference e.g. Olympic Games) usually fall 
formally beyond the scope of performance audits. It has been 
suggested to grant the authority of policy audit to public audit 
institutions to examine how a ministry manages, for instance, 
a crisis situation, or to review whether a large scale project has 
achieved its anticipated financial success, or to focus on other 
time-limited projects with specific policy goals (see Grönlund, 
Svärdsten & Öhman, 2011, p. 111 and the references there in.)

This suggestion, although challenging, is not in conformity 
with the constitutional arrangements of at least the EU and its 
Member States, as it will lead to the formal dispute of the polit-
ical decisions of elected officials by a non elected mechanism, 
such as the public audit institutions, a development that may 
challenge the democratic legitimacy template of the political 
choices. In general, performance audits are not (designed to 
be) concerned with the determination of general policy, the 
responsibility for which lies with the elected officials, in the 
exe cutive and the legislative branches of government. On the 
other hand, how policy, once determined, has been carried out 
must be officially scrutinized. The performance audit efforts 
are directed towards ensuring that good judgement is exer-
cised by policy makers in establishing the objectives regarded 
as providing value for money, meaning that values most ap-
propriate to the situation have been recognised. Policy ma-
kers have to specify what in their view must be provided as the 
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more appropriate reflection of the values desired by their own 
particular community in the light of resources available to pro-
vide them and, once these values are specified, to ensure that 
those particular requirements are met. Identifying values (and 
the resulting policy objectives) commonly accepted in a com-
munity is very difficult, especially when it comes to providing 
quantitative aspects to them such as their monetary worth. 
Similar difficulties are identified with regard to the perspective 
of a policy. Usually a policy which produced results at the short 
term is more preferable by the policy decision-makers as they 
will be in a position to enjoy political gains while a policy with 
more long-term results, even if it is accepted by the communi-
ty, will not be popular among the elected officials due to lack 
of timely political benefits. A performance audit will not deter-
mine the conditions of political opportunism. It needs, howe-
ver, the establishment of clear aims that will be used as criteria 
against which the outputs of the policies will be compared and 
judged (see Glendinning, 1988, p. 47- 48)

A final issue refers to the performance of the audit itself. 
Despite the public audit’s critical role in enforcing accounta-
bility through its functions, it must be noted that there are 
considerations regarding its performance. Such considerations 
are based both on the human nature of the audit’s function, as 
well as the institutional and operational limitations identified 
in several cases. 

As a human activity, an auditor’s judgement may be in-
fluenced by various factors. Three such categories have been 
identified: task factors, environmental factors and personal 
factors. The task factors consist of the composition of informa-
tion, the relevance of information and the complexity of the 
tasks. Environmental factors consist of pressures, feedback, 
regulations and standards while personal factors consist of 
knowledge, skills, abilities, gender, culture and moral develop-
ment. Within that context, it has been found that performance 
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incentives (such as financial incentive in the form of bonuses) 
increase the performance of audit judgement, and the same 
applies to the obedience pressures (from persons with superi-
or authority), whereas the ethical perception has no effect on 
audit judgement (see Nugrahanti & Jahja, 2018, p. 225). Such 
findings cast doubts on the overall performance of public audit 
schemes as they may lead to the loss of professional culture 
and attitude on behalf of the auditors, as well as the loss of pub-
lic confidence and of social credibility for the audit scheme.

Furthermore, at the institutional level, it has been found 
that the institutions which are responsible for public audit, on 
some occasions, are not created by legislation providing them 
with adequate independence and freedom from executive in-
terference. Even in cases in which there are sufficient auditing 
mandates for the public audit authorities, they may lack the 
additional investigative powers to enable them to follow-up 
on apparent violations and support the prosecution of rele-
vant agencies or individuals. Similarly, there are public audit 
institutions that do not have adequate powers to decide what 
should be audited or how the audit findings should be present-
ed. Also the lack of skilled staff to perform the tasks of finan-
cial/compliance audit as they have evolved till now or the tasks 
of performance audit that set challenges for the traditional au-
dit understanding is a significant drawback. The financial con-
straints on public audit authorities are not negligible, depriving 
them from adequate infrastructure and equipment to conduct 
effectively their work. The audit reports’ impact is, sometimes, 
a victim of the time constraints of the reports’ recipients, thus 
the most critical findings contained therein are not taken up 
by the proper political, administrative or even judicial author-
ities (see Ramkumar & Krafchik, 2007, pp. 26-27).

These drawbacks are even more obvious in regimes with 
little or no political competition. Political competition indi-
cates the strength of opposition that a politician expects to en-
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counter in future elections and it increases the long-run costs 
to politicians for ignoring pre-election agreements. The pub-
lic audit system under normal circumstances, in a democra-
tic tradition, is intended to act as an independent provider of 
assurance with regard to the veracity of the audit reports and 
their contents. The lack of political competition distorts this 
aim as it refocuses, formally, the public audit’s operation on the 
fight to protect the state’s financial interests against fraud or 
corruption. Thus the assurance on the audit’s performance is 
provided to the government, not the people of the state, or any 
other interested party. The audit thus acquires the characteris-
tics of internal audit, limiting its scope to managerial and com-
pliance issues, and the reports refer to low level managerial ac-
countability but not to high level managerial accountability or 
even political accountability with regard to the management of 
public resources, thus reducing their credibility (see Mir, Fan 
& Maclean, 2017).

Such a scenario is not possible within the EU as the ECA 
is by definition the external auditor of the EU, and due to its 
institutional positioning outside the political developments of 
the EU, it is empowered to provide the assurance on the reli-
ability of the accounts and the legality and the regularity of the 
underlying transactions, as well as to verify the adherence of 
the principles of economy, efficiency and effectiveness, in pur-
suit of the soundness in the EU budgetary governance. 
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Conclusion

The financial crisis of the 2008-2012 period, as well as the sub-
sequent fiscal austerity policies adopted throughout the EU, 
and globally, have highlighted the importance of the public 
audit, in terms of the audit scope and the audit institutions’ in-
dependence. The introduction of the New Public Management 
concept in the 1980s had given an expanding boost to the pub-
lic audit’s remit, by introducing the performance or value for 
money audits and by increasing the demand for accrual-based 
financial reporting. Now there is a mixed outlook, as there are 
those expecting public audit institutions to be bloodhounds, 
not just watchdogs, i.e. to develop even stricter audit methods 
and even to acquire the authority of imposing sanctions (in 
some EU countries there are such public audit institutions but 
not the ECA), and there are those who wish to limit the public 
audit space through curtailing audit activities, outsourcing of 
large segments of certification audit to the private sector, and 
expressing increased resentment of performance auditing as 
incompatible with the conditions created by the unprecedent-
edly long period of fiscal austerity, which has reduced the pub-
lic authorities’ financial capabilities (see Heald, 2018, p. 332).

In such a context, the public audit function, even in the EU, 
has to consider its evolution. A possible starting point is to be-
come more relevant, i.e. to be seen as an institutional actor with 
its own added value in the democratic regime within which it 
operates. One way to do that is to seek to improve the dissemi-
nation effects of its findings as objective results of a well docu-
mented and methodologically proper audit procedure. Thus, 
the two main accountability components in auditing have to 
be balanced: the focus should not be only on measuring how 
a particular public authority is functioning, but also on infor-
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ming the public of what has been found. And this information 
should not be subjected to compromises but to allow anyone 
interested to formulate a valid picture of the actual situation of 
the issue or organization under audit. Yet, given that the public 
audit, both at institutional and operational terms, cannot be 
insulated from the wider political environment within which 
it exists and operates, caution must be exercised in avoiding 
any sort of affiliation to political partisanship, as this would 
nullify the public audit’s greatest asset, its independence (see 
Chelimsky, 2007).

The public auditors’ independence and the objectivity stem-
ming thereof, are being challenged when the audit entails per-
formance evaluations which may rely on subjective approaches 
with regard to data collection and analysis. The conclusions 
reached in such a procedure are easier to challenge since they 
may be indicated by the auditees as being based on outdat-
ed evidence and erroneous understanding of the auditees’ 
objectives, especially when a change of the persons who are 
politically responsible has occurred, usually after an election 
process (see Heald, 2018, p. 332). Furthermore, in the context 
of continued austerity and divisive arguments about the size 
and scope of the state, as these have dominated the agenda of 
public discourse and political action, at EU level as well as at 
global level, during the last two decades, the relevant public 
audit institutions (including the ECA) need to re-examine 
their position and function within a public policy space char-
acterized by intensive challenges by other actors of the rele-
vant institutional landscape, one of the main tendencies being 
collibration, i.e. a biased approach against the balance reached 
between public audit institutions and auditees. There are di-
rect or indirect efforts to change the jurisdictional features of 
public sector auditing, such as the public audit’s institutions 
independence from executive government, their competence 
to reach and write their conclusions without interference from 
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other political or institutional actors, their investigative rights 
with regard to the collection of audit evidence, the size of the 
public audit institutions’ staff or their remuneration, all these 
that could affect the quality of public sector audit (see Bourn, 
2007, p. 358). 

The reaction of the public audit institutions (including the 
ECA) against such aggressive “pushback” and marginalizing 
initiatives from the executive branch of government or any 
equivalent schemes, is to ensure the independence and quality 
of its core activities, and to resist extensions of scope that might 
compromise its reputation and independence. For instance, it 
would be erroneous for the public audit function to seek imi-
tation of the instant judgements of the various commentators 
and the social media. Seeking to be seen as “relevant” in the 
current reality is understandable, but it should be done with 
extreme caution as the danger of changing status from an au-
thoritative actor to just another commentator would diminish 
not only the public audit’s prestige but also its credibility, its 
special institutional weight and, at the end of the day, its add-
ed value in the current institutional arrangements (see Heald, 
2018, p. 332). 

Also, seeking new institutional roles is something that pub-
lic audit may pursue in the interest of improving the quality of 
the public sector within which it operates. Public authorities 
are fundamentally bureaucracies – hierarchies operating by 
rules – and hence are more inclined to look inwards to process-
es and procedures, than outwards to results and outcomes for 
those whom they have the duty to serve. Traditionally, public 
sector audit, valuable as it could be, through its independence 
from organisations, and the authority and objectivity this be-
stows, reinforced the tendency to look inwards by its concen-
tration on seeing that rules and procedures were obeyed and 
money spent according to them (financial and compliance 
audits). Thus the focus of audit was on cataloguing failure (es-
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pecially detection of fraud and waste of public money), but a 
mere inventory of failures is not a useful guide, unless it is sup-
plemented by a proactive approach identifying, analyzing and 
encouraging the successes in the public sector. This entails a 
new role for public audit, which focuses on entailing coaching 
and mentoring for the future, not just criticizing for past fail-
ures, as this would make the recommendations resulting from 
the audit process more instructive (see Bourn, 2007, p. 1).

Such a role relies in the quality of the “instructor”. Public 
auditors (including the EU auditors) are deemed as leading 
adjudicators, for which they claim expertise and have access 
to evidence (see Heald, 2018, p. 332). Their departure from 
an important yet narrow activity, entailing the study of do-
cuments and procedures in order to find evidence of broken 
rules, fraud, corruption etc, towards the use of performance 
auditing tools and methodologies (such as efficiency mea-
sures, cost/effectiveness, targets, governance arrangements, 
etc), expanded significantly the scope of their work. The dan-
ger which is hidden in that development lies with the political 
aspects of the element of performance audits, and the auditors 
being lured to allow their work being seen as political. This 
would rebrand the public audit function as a mere criticizing 
and complaining operation, eliminating its coaching and men-
toring aspect. Yet these two latter aspects are at the core of the 
public audit’s contribution to the improvement of the provi-
sion of public goods and services to their lawful recipients (see 
Bourn, 2007, p. 364-365)

Thus public audit institutions should maintain their distinct 
roles from other public authorities, even in cases that their ad-
vice is required and provided, such as accounting systems im-
plementation or antifraud measures. This is not just a necessity 
deriving from the above considerations, but also a democratic 
requirement, relevant to the legitimacy of all public activity. 
In a similar approach, the public audit institutions, although 
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working closely with parliamentary institutions and commit-
tees (and, on some occasion being accountable to them), must 
maintain their independence from the political agendas pur-
sued in the parliamentary environment (see Heald, 2018, p. 
332).

All this considerations are applicable in the EU context. As 
Europe faces ever greater challenges and increasing pressure on 
its public finances, the role of the European Court of Auditors 
is of increasing importance. The ECA warns of risks, provides 
assurance and offers guidance to EU policymakers on how to 
improve the management of public finances by increasing its 
soundness. At the same time the ECA provides information in 
order to ensure that Europe’s citizens know how their money 
is being spent. This is the essence of the ECA’s contribution to 
strengthening the democratic legitimacy and sustainability of 
the EU budgetary governance.
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I. Audit Planning Phase

Source: European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 31
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II. Audit Examination Phase

Source: European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 57
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III. Audit Reporting Phase

Source: European Court of Auditors, 2017b, p. 72






